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Monday, January 9, 2006

--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Can everyone hear me?  Are the mikes on?  You cannot hear me.  The mikes aren't on.  Good start.  Are they now?  Thank you.


Today is the first day in the hearing of application EB-2005-0378 submitted by Hydro One Networks for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the distribution of electricity.  These rates are to be implemented on May 1st, 2006.

The parties to this proceeding have defined an issues list which the Board has accepted.  My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member in this proceeding, and with me are Board members Mr. Paul Vlahos and Mr. Bob Betts.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

I'd like to make a few remarks about the schedule before we begin.  This morning we're beginning at 9:30, but from here on in we'll begin at 9 o'clock.  We'll take a break somewhere around 10:45 and break for an hour's lunch at 12:30.  We plan to complete the afternoon by 4:00 or 4.30, but we will go longer than that if necessary to maintain the schedule.  The panel will not sit on Wednesdays.

We anticipate that normally Board counsel will cross‑examine first.  I encourage everyone to determine an ‑‑ intervenors to determine an order of cross‑examination amongst you, and I know that you normally do that.  And I would like everyone's support in this hearing to make the hearing as concise and effective as possible.  If your examination is early in the day, please keep in mind that your colleagues will follow you later in the day and we will be asking them to do that past normal closing times, if necessary, so you are impacting one another.


Are there any questions regarding the schedule before we go forward?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The order of cross is news to us, and many of us have prepared the cross for the first couple of days on the assumption that Board Staff would follow the normal practice and go last.  I wonder if we could beg your indulgence to allow us to ‑‑ we've already agreed on an order for the first panel, and I wonder if we can beg your indulgence to allow us to do that for at least the first couple of panels so that -- because you prepare your cross differently if there's going to be a cross ahead of you.  And we have no information on what Board Staff is going to do in their cross.


MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Shepherd, and perhaps we should have let you know ahead of time that was our plan.  You say you've already talked about the order of cross.  Would the order of cross change for other intervenors with the Staff going forward –

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it wouldn't, but the nature of the cross would.



MS. NOWINA:  -- the substance of the cross?  Is there a material difference?  I'd really like to proceed in this way if we possibly could.  I understand that you may eliminate questions or add questions based on the focus of the Board Staff examination, but is it possible for you to do that on the fly, I guess, for the first couple of days, and then after that obviously you do know how we'll be proceeding, so it shouldn't be a problem?



MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm assuming that as the hearing goes on, Board Staff will let us know what they're going to cover so that we can prepare our cross accordingly.  What happens with the intervenors is that we talk to each other and we know that Mr. Poch is going to do LRAM and, you know, Mr. White is going to do weather, and so we have an understanding of what we have to prepare for.  


So if Board Staff is going to share with us their information, it's not a problem to change the order.  That's easy.  It's harder for the first couple of panels, because we didn't know.  If the Panel would prefer that we do that, of course we will.



MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have the same kind of concerns that Mr. Shepherd has?  


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, my only point is that obviously however the Board proceeds on this, advance notice helps us duplicate effort and coordinate better.  It's not simply advance notice of who is going first; rather, in Board Staff's case we need to have some understanding of the extent they're going to go into an issue, so whether we can rely on that or whether we need to prepare fuller on that.  


I should say I have very minimal involvement in this hearing.  I'm here for the first panel and the last panel, so I'm probably the last one you need to place much weight on.  Just that general point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  I'm having a hard time differentiating or understanding what Board Staff is going to question, whether it's the beginning or the end.  I understand why it might be important for you to know that, but the timing of when they do it, I can understand why that makes a difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, we were expecting that I would be the lead on load forecast, and so I prepared a cross that sets the building blocks, asks the basic questions about the econometric models, how they work, how they fit together, those sort of things, which I don't need to do if Board Staff is going to do.  And I spent how many hours doing it.  It's wasted if we don't know in advance.



MS. NOWINA:  Any other submissions on that topic? 

Give us a second and we'll just huddle back here and let you know.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  So for Panel 1, Mr. Shepherd, we will go with your approach with Board Staff last.  

Ms. Lea, that will work for you?


MS. LEA:  Not a problem.  I can reassure Mr. Shepherd that I didn't venture into the areas that he was going to talk about.


MS. NOWINA:  For Panel 2, who is the lead?  Are you lead on Panel 2, as well, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Mr. Warren, I think, was going to be.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, are you all right with us proceeding with Board Staff first for Panel 2?


MR. WARREN:  Sure.  It is a matter of indifference to us one way or the other, Madam Chair.  That's fine.



MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That's what we'll do.  I just want to mention, however, that the role of Board Staff is different than that of the rest of the intervenors.  So as you get into conversations about who covers what ground, et cetera, it's not as though the Board Staff could be assigned a certain topic and follow up on that.  Board Staff will have to go in whatever direction that they believe they should go, regardless of the rest of the cross‑examination, just to make that clear.



May I have appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:


MR. ROGERS:  My name is Donald Rogers, Madam Chair, counsel for the applicant.  With me here at the counsel table is Ms. Susan Frank, who is vice‑president of regulatory affairs and chief regulatory officer, and she will be assisting me.  I may introduce two of my colleagues who may appear from time to time.  Ms. Allyn Abbott, my partner, may on occasion be in this chair as counsel for the applicant, and Ms. Anita Varjacic as well possibly might fill in from time to time.  Thank you.



MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.



MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.



MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.



MR. DeVELLIS:  John DeVellis for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.



MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. POCH:  Good morning.  David Poch on behalf of the Green Energy Coalition, GEC, and I've been asked to enter an appearance for Murray Klippenstein on behalf of Pollution Probe.



MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  I'm joined today by our economist Darryl Seal.



MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry.  I didn't catch the last name.



MR. SHEPHERD:  Seal.


MR. WHITE:  Roger White, the ECMI Coalition of Small- and Medium-Sized Distributors, and I'm joined today by 

Mr. Andrew Bateman on my left.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.



MR. SCULLY:  Peter F. Scully on behalf of the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the City of Timmins.  I should say at this time that we're seeking late intervention status.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Scully.  I'll deal with that right now.  So you know you may have late intervention status; not a problem.  We're still discussing costs.  There's a couple of things that we want to look at in terms of that.  So if you're all right with proceeding on that basis, we will let you know about costs as soon as possible.


MR. SCULLY:  No problem.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson. I'm appearing as counsel for the Power Workers Union.  With me is Ms. Judy Kwik and she will be here from time to time, as will I.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  

MR. McGEE:  My name is John McGee, I'm representing the Federation of Ontario Cottagers Associations Incorporated.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. McGee.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Brian Dingwall representing Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. TUNLEY:  I'm Philip Tunley.  I'm representing NRG LP.  We’re a intervenor late last week.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.  

MR. MacINTOSH:   David MacIntosh, Energy Probe.

MS. NOWINA:  Do we have everyone?  And for Board Staff.

MS. CAMPBELL:  For Board Staff, Donna Campbell, and I'm joined by my colleagues, Jennifer Lea, Chris Cincar and Harold Thiessen.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.

Are there any preliminary matters that we haven't already dealt with?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  There is one, Madam Chair, I’d like to raise with the Board.  It's my practice at the beginning of these hearings as counsel for the applicant to ask the Board's indulgence with respect to Rule 404 of the Rules of Professional Conduct.  Lawyers are prohibited, generally speaking, from speaking to witnesses, their own witnesses, during the period of time when they are under 

cross-examination, and I ask my friends and intervenors to consent and for the Board's permission to speak to these witnesses during the cross-examination if necessary.  

I find that during these cases, there's a lot of technical issues that come up that sometimes requires counsel to discuss them with the witness as well as undertakings and so on, fulfilling undertakings.  So the object of the rule is to prevent counsel from trying to talk to witnesses during cross-examination to repair damage that's been done in a court case.  It doesn't apply really in cases like this.  And I think it's a standard to make this concession that I ask for it in this case.
     MS. NOWINA:  Comments from others?

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  This is actually the first time I've heard this asked for formally.  I think the general practice that I'm used to is that counsel on administrative matters, for example, getting undertakings done and stuff like that, has freedom to talk to witnesses, although generally their regulatory staff do it.  But I don't think it's appropriate for it to be a blanket exemption, because I think Mr. Rogers would agree it's not appropriate for him to sit down with his witnesses and say, You're doing badly on this cross-examination; change your approach.  Those are my submissions. 
     MR. ROGERS:  I wouldn't do that.  I would hear the spirit of the prohibition and my request really was simply to permit me to discuss technical matters of that nature with the witness.  I undertake not to abuse the process by trying to change the answers.
     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have any submissions on this?
     MR. WARREN:  I'm happy with what Mr. Rogers has asked for.  I have every confidence that he will do what he says.
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Campbell?
     MS. CAMPBELL:  I have equal confidence in Mr. Rogers.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  That will be fine, Mr. Rogers.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.
     MS. NOWINA:  Any other preliminary matters?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I have one minor matter.  You'll be aware, having sat on the Panel hearing, the motion on December 22nd with respect to CDM, that at the close of that proceeding I invited the chair of that Panel to consider procedure with respect to CDM in forthcoming LDC cases in that the scope of CDM, if any, in such cases would presumably be impacted by the ruling that will come out of that motion, and that ruling is expected presumably at the end of this month, the reply argument being due on the 16th.  

You'll recall that in this particular case this panel ruled that CDM not be on the issues list in anticipation of that motion.  It would be our intention, if the outcome of that motion so enables it, that we would seek permission to have CDM reinserted in the issues list in this process, if appropriate, and would be seeking, as I indicated on the 22nd, some mechanism to enable it to be considered in a subsequent phase and for rates to be set or for this Panel's deliberations not to be slowed up by the inclusion of CDM, if it's appropriate to add it.  That presumably would be some sort of variance account mechanism.
     I simply raise it now, put it on the record, for other counsel and the balance of the panel who weren't present on the 22nd.  I'm not sure it affects the way you would proceed today, but I just felt, particularly for my friend, it would be important for him to have advance notice of that.  And obviously if we -- if it is appropriate to seek that from the Board, I presume we could debate the merits of it and of the process that would be appropriate at that time.
     MS. NOWINA:  Good point, Mr. Poch.  I think we can hope to have a decision from that Panel before we conclude here and that it provide the guidance that we require.  If it doesn't, we'll deal with that issue perhaps at the end of this proceeding.
     MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, I understand that Hydro One was going to make some introductory remarks for us.

OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. ROGERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have a brief opening statement.  

This applicant has not been before the Board for some time for review of its costs and revenues and rates.  In fact, this is the first full-blown traditional rate case that this company has had before you as a regulator.
     The witnesses that I'll be calling from the company as a result are experienced managers of an electricity distribution system but, generally speaking, inexperienced witnesses, and a lot of them will be testifying for the first time during this proceeding.  I suspect many of them would rather be managers than witnesses, but they’re going to be here.  

Some of them, you will see, do not speak the same language as those of us who are involved with regulation, and so I just ask the Board's patience.  There may be occasions - and my friends as well - where some of the regulatory jargon from the gas utilities won't register with my witnesses, but I am sure with a little patience and stability we can get through this.
     I don't intend to lead any evidence in chief to any great extent, although I will have occasionally some very short examination in chief to highlight an issue which I hope will be helpful for the Board, but will be very, very short in calling these witnesses.
     We have provided to the Board and to intervenors a schedule which I think is Exhibit A19, which sets out the witnesses for each of eight panels and as well lists there the issues that each panel will deal with and the areas of the evidence that -- for which they can speak.  So I hope this is helpful to the Board and to intervenors.  It will be kind of the road-map that I intend to follow as we go through the case.  

We have also, as you will see in that exhibit, 

Ms. Nowina, estimated times that these panels will take in an attempt to get some kind of schedule.  I will say to you that this, I'm hoping, is a pessimistic outlook as to how long this case will take and people shouldn't feel that they have to fill up every available slot on this timetable.  I'm hoping we can compress it somewhat, but we tried to make a generous allocation of times for this process.
     MS. NOWINA:  Good.
     MR. ROGERS:  With those brief remarks, I would like to call my first panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  Would you like to introduce them first before we swear them in, Mr. Rogers.
     MR. ROGERS:  We have Mr. Stan But, Mr. Allan Cowan, and Mr. Steven Vance.  If they could be sworn, then I can qualify them.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS - PANEL 1: 

STANLEY BUT; Sworn.

ALLAN COWAN; Sworn.

STEVEN VANCE; Sworn. 
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Rogers.


EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS: 
     MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But, may I start with you, sir.  I understand that you are presently the manager of economics and load forecasting with Hydro One Networks.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, I am.
     MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae, which by the way, Madam Chair, is found at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 1 of 21, that you hold a Bachelor of Arts in economics from York University in 1979?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  You have a master of business administration from York University, achieved in 1980?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have a master of arts in economics, or you completed the course requirements?


MR. BUT:  I did not get the degree, but I ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  You have been employed in the electricity sector for some time, I understand?


MR. BUT:  Yes, 20 years.


MR. ROGERS:  Starting with the Ontario government and then moving to Ontario Hydro in 1986?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And then Hydro One Networks in 1999 to the present time? 


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  During that time, you've worked as senior advisor on load forecasts and been ‑‑ have familiarity with the load forecasting methodology employed by the applicant in this case?


MR. BUT:  Yes, I am.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Mr. But.  Just what areas of the evidence will you be responding to?


MR. BUT:  I will be testifying on Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 3.


MR. ROGERS:  Is your knowledge of the company's affairs -- is the evidence contained in that section of the evidence an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Cowan, I understand, sir, that you are presently manager of business planning and analysis with the applicant company?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae, which is found at page 3 of 21 of the exhibit I mentioned earlier, that you have quite extensive experience in the gas business?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked for many years with Union Gas Limited?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  And then moved to a company called Enlogix LP in 1997 --


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  -- where you worked for a few years.  You had joined the Hydro companies in 2004?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, July of 2004.


MR. ROGERS:  You were manager of regulatory finance reporting?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, I was.


MR. ROGERS:  And now are manager of business planning and analysis?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you just help us as to which portions of the evidence you will be dealing with?


MR. COWAN:  My responsibility will be with Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1, compliance with the rate handbook, and E11, E121, and E211, which is the revenue requirement for this application, as well as A22, the financial summary.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Cowan, one other thing I'd like to just address with you.  In your role with the company, I understand that you have general familiarity with all of the evidence that's been compiled in this case?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And there are some portions of the evidence, Madam Chair, because of the issues list, where we will not be calling a witness directly, because it's not an issue in the hearing.  Mr. Cowan, from your ‑‑ can you confirm with the Board that you have reviewed the evidence which is not reflected on Exhibit A19, because the issues were not on the issues list, and that so far as you're aware that evidence is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, to the best of my knowledge it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  

Mr. Vance, you presently are manager of process management?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have a diploma of technology and electrical engineering technology which you achieved in 1984?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You are a member of the Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked with the old Ontario Hydro for many years, I understand?


MR. VANCE:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae can be found at schedule 2, page 18 of 21 of the evidence?


MR. VANCE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  It contains an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience in this case?


MR. VANCE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Have you ever testified before?


MR. VANCE:  No.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But, have you ever testified in a case like this before?


MR. BUT:  No, I haven't.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Cowan, have you testified before?


MR. COWAN:  In the gas side, many times.  Not in the electricity side.


MR. ROGERS:  Good.  In that case, I have a few questions to ask you.  

Madam Chair, I thought it might be useful if I could ask Mr. Cowan just to outline very briefly a summary of where we have been to get us to this point today.


Mr. Cowan, could you please provide a brief summary of previous Hydro One distribution rate applications leading up to this?


MR. COWAN:  Certainly.  Hydro One first came before the Board in RP-1998-001 when it was known as Ontario Hydro Service Company Inc.  The purpose of that application was to establish distribution rates upon the breakup of Ontario Hydro.  The Board order in that proceeding approved a revenue requirement of approximately $603 million for the 2000 test year.  The Board also approved Hydro One's current capital structure during that proceeding; namely, the 36 per cent equity, 4 per cent and 60 per cent debt.  


The Board also directed the company to complete several studies and additional evidence for subsequent filing with the Board.  These studies are listed at 

Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1, and include, among others, a lead-lag study, a common corporate cost allocation study, an overhead cost allocation study, a line-loss study, as well as a few others.  


Hydro One's current rates are based upon the rate base that was established in this proceeding; i.e., back in 1999 there was approximately 2.5 billion prior to any adjustments for the 87 LDCs that Hydro One has subsequently acquired.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Now, after that first case, when did Hydro One Distribution next appear before the Board for the purpose of establishing distribution rates?


MR. COWAN:  The company next appeared as Hydro One in RP-2000-0023.  This proceeding established a revenue requirement of approximately 780 million, as outlined in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1, filed as Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1.  These rates were based upon the same capital structure and the same rate base approved in the RP-1998-001 proceeding.  


During this proceeding, Hydro One Distribution filed a rate mitigation plan which was approved by the Board, resulting in a rate increase less than that required to earn the approved rate of return of 9.88 percent.  Now, as part of the settlement agreement in this proceeding, Hydro One agreed to include evidence related to topic areas listed at page 5 of Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1.  This exhibit also provides the evidentiary roadmap as to where we have in this proceeding filed responses to those undertakings.

MR. ROGERS:  Just stopping there, then the company has complied with the undertaking given in that settlement agreement and filed those studies in this case?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, they have.  As I indicated, these are outlined in Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Carry on, please.


MR. COWAN:  The introduction of the Electricity Pricing, Conservation and Supply Act in December of '02 suspended the introduction of the approved third phase MAR increase which was scheduled for implementation in March of 2003.


MR. ROGERS:  Where were Hydro One Distribution's current rates established?


MR. COWAN:  These were established ‑‑ the Board approved the current rates incorporating the final phase in their March of 2005 decision, RP-2005-0013, providing the company committed to spending the third phase increase on CDM initiatives.  These CDM initiatives, totalling 39.5 million, were approved by the Board as part of the RP-2004-0203 proceeding.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I wonder if you could just briefly summarize Hydro One Distribution's 2006 revenue requirement in this case.


MR. COWAN:  Yes, I can.  Hydro One Distribution is requesting a revenue requirement of 965 million for the 2006 test year, as noted at Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1.


After normalizing for the LDC acquisitions, this is an increase of approximately 130 million over the level approved in the 2000-0023 and the RP-2005-0013 decisions.  The key reasons for the increased revenue requirement are discussed at Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 6.  The 965 million revenue requirement has basically three components, the largest of which is network charges for our legacy and acquired customers, totalling 892 million, LV charges of 33 million miscellaneous and other revenue charges totalling 40 million make up the difference.

     LV customers are those customers who utilize our LV facilities and include 75 LDCs and 38 direct customers.  Miscellaneous and other revenues include connection/disconnection charges, late payment charges, service layout fees, special meter reads, joint use, and revenues from contestable work.  

Looking at the cost components of the revenue OM&A expenses amount to approximately $423 million; depreciation, $202 million; return, 261 million, income tax is 69 million; capital tax is 10 million.  These are shown in Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1.  

Rate base growth of approximately 1.1 billion since 1999 is the key driver for the increase of Hydro One Distribution's increased revenue requirement.  The addition of pension cost is also a key reason for increase in OM&A component for the revenue requirement.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Finally, one last point.  Could you summarize for the Board Hydro One Distribution's position with respect to the institution of an LRAM for the 2006 test year.
     MR. COWAN:  Certainly.  Hydro One believes it's premature to consider implementing an LRAM for the 2006 test year.  There's too much uncertainty at this point in time respecting the nature of any LRAM mechanism as well as the ability to predict market participation rates and to reliably and cost effectively measure the impact CDM programs will have on LDC revenues.  We feel that LRAM concepts for the electricity industry should be first reviewed in the generic proceeding prior to their implementation in Ontario.  In such a proceeding, common standards, utility-specific issues, measurement techniques and the implementation issues from CDM pilot programs can be thoroughly explored and tested prior to implementation.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  

That concludes the examination in chief, and the witnesses are available for cross-examination.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Shepherd, I believe you're going to begin.  

Can I get an order of cross-examination?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand the order is myself, then Mr. White, then Mr. Poch, and Mr. DeVellis.  I believe Mr. Warren and Mr. Dingwall are not cross-examining and I don't know whether anybody else has cross.
     MR. WARREN:  I have a few questions, but they're limited, Madam Chair, and I'm happy to stand down.
     MR. POCH:  And I’m informed by Pollution Probe that they'll be relying on GEC's cross in this panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else going to be crossing?
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Energy Probe has just a few minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I may have a few minutes if 

Mr. Shepherd gets one of customary interesting topics.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  And then 

Ms. Lea.
     Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I expect to be about an hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  Hydro One distributes power to about 1,100 schools in your franchise area, which is why we're here.  

Let me start by asking for your help on understanding which numbers are comparable to which other numbers in the load forecast.  There's load forecast numbers all over the evidence, and we had some difficulty in figuring out what went with what, so perhaps you can assist me.
     Start, if you could, by going to H3-13, Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 13, which is School Energy IR number 13.  If you could, in that, look at page 9.
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you might want to keep that out after we're finished these questions because I'm going to come back to it several times.
     So the first is:  You see a number -- you see a set of numbers there at the top of page 9 in the second column from the -- or the last column on the right, 41489, 41591 and 41509.  Those numbers are your overall load forecast, fully adjusted, normalized for the test year; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So 41489 is your actual for 2004?

MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So do we have somewhere the -- and that's normalized; correct?
     MR. BUT:  On the corrected basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have the unnormalized load somewhere in the evidence?
     MR. BUT:  We have provided the details of the information that we used in the attachment with respect to all the models information that we used.  So all the information has been provided under the attachment of H3-3.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I guess what I'm looking for is is the number there somewhere?  Like 41489 is not what your actual load was in 2004.  It's what your weather-adjusted load was in 2004.  I'm just wondering whether we can have or we have already the actual.
     MR. BUT:  The 2004 number was based on actual information and then we do the weather correction and then the information we have been sending hereon is on the weather-corrected basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what was the number you had before you corrected for weather?  Do you know?
     MR. BUT:  We have also provided the information elsewhere in other exhibits.  For example, in Exhibit H1, tab -- in Exhibit H, tab 1, 26, we have provided the actual for 2004 and then again on Exhibit H, tab 5, schedule 16, we have provided the actual and for 2004 as well as the weather-corrected information.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.  I was going to get to H1, 26 in a second.  But let me just back up a stage.  You're generally a winter-peaking utility; is that right?
     MR. BUT:  For Hydro One, yes, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if it's colder, you have higher load; if it's warmer, in general, you have lower load; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  However, it depends on the month we are talking about.  If it's the winter, you just make reference to the winter.  Yes, that's correct.  However, we also have to consider other months as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Does your load forecast split up the winter and summer and forecast them separately for weather purposes?
     MR. BUT:  The information we presented in the exhibit that you referred to, H3-13, the information is on an annual basis.  So therefore, it's not just the 

winter-peaking load that is important.  It's also all the other months that is also important.  So therefore it's not just as simple as saying the weather being warmer in the winter and therefore the load should be lower.  We also have to consider the temperatures of other months, such as the summer months, as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Your sensitivities for heating days and cooling days are different; right?  If you have more heating degree days, that will -- sorry.  If you have a higher average temperature in the winter, that will tend to have more impact on your load than a lower average temperature in the summer; right?
     MR. BUT:  In general, that is correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's about twice as much roughly.
     MR. BUT:  We have provided that sensitivity information in one of the exhibits that you asked for in H, 3, tab 13, in particular question under K.  We have answered that question with respect to the sensitivity, with respect to the weather variables.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, it's on page 10 of that H3-13, where your sensitivity to ‑‑ this actually looks like you have a higher impact in the summer.


MR. BUT:  This is with respect -- the analysis is done with respect to as requested.  In terms of one degree C in temperature, it all depends for the particular summer how many degrees C was above or below.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have a warmer summer, that will have more impact on you than if you have a colder winter by the same amount; right?  That's what this says on page 10.


MR. BUT:  That is correct.  If we're talking about one degree C warmer in the summer and also, at the same time, one degree C colder in the winter.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'd just like ‑‑ I just want to go to one other source of your load numbers, because we're still looking at actual for 2004 and the number you have, the weather corrected number, is 41,489.  I went to your annual report, which is A10‑1.  Can you turn that up, please, Exhibit A, tab 10, schedule 1?  This is your 2004 annual report.  I'm looking at page 75.


MR. BUT:  And the number you're referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 75 of that annual report, you have a load for 2004, distribution load, of 44,800 gigawatt hours.


MR. BUT:  Right.  In this particular number, the number here includes the Hydro One Brampton, as well as Hydro One remote information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we went to the 2006 EDR model for Hydro One Brampton, and they report that they're -- and you can accept this subject to a check or I'll ask you to undertake to find it out.  They report that their 2004 distribution load was 3,483 gigawatt hours.  Are you familiar with that number, or will you accept that subject to check?


MR. BUT:  I do not have the information right now with respect to Hydro One Brampton information.


MR. ROGERS:  Where did this come from, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This comes from the Hydro One Brampton filing in 2005-0020, their EDR model.  They have to show actual for 2004, and then -- as part of the model.  It's standard.


Where I'm going with this is this:  I wonder if you can undertake to reconcile the 44,800 gigawatt hours from your annual report for 2004 with the amount you've reported as your actual in this rate case, which is 41,489.  And I know part of that will be Hydro One Brampton and I know part of that will be remote communities and I know part of that will be the weather adjustment.  And if you could just track that for us so that we can see how they reconcile, I'd appreciate that.


MR. ROGERS:  I think that we can ‑‑ that can be done relatively --


MR. BUT:  We can do that, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  We will undertake to do that, 

Mr. Shepherd.


MS. NOWINA:  We have an undertaking.


MS. CAMPBELL:  The undertaking will be J1.1, and it would be a reconciliation of the information contained on page 75 of the 2004 Hydro One annual report, and, specifically, the number is 44.8 kilowatt hours, with the numbers that are provided in pre‑filed evidence Exhibit H, tab ‑‑ interrogatory, I apologize ‑‑ Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 13, page 9 of 10, and the number is the Hydro One Distribution load forecast after CDM and the number is 41,489.


UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  RECONCILIATION OF THE 

INFORMATION CONTAINED ON PAGE 75 OF THE 2004 HYDRO ONE 

ANNUAL REPORT.

MR. VLAHOS:  I apologize for interjecting.  Are we talking about the fiscal year being the same as the rate year?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That may be one of the adjustments, 

Mr. Vlahos.  As I understand it, they're both calendar year numbers, but I could be wrong.  Rather than try to pursue it in cross, I thought the best thing to do would just be to get a reconciliation.


Okay, Mr. But, I wonder if you could then turn back to H1-26, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 26, which is Board Staff Interrogatory 26.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.  What was the reference again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  H1-26, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this, again, is another one that I think is going to come up a lot in this discussion.


Do you have that, Mr. But?


MR. BUT:  Yes, I have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So I'm looking at page 3, and you just referred to the fact that you had the 2004 data here.  So this is what we're talking about; right?  This is the 2004 load and customer data for ‑‑ these are actuals.


MR. BUT:  Yes.  These are the actuals for 2004 at the end-user level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to page 4, which is the total, and the total for megawatt hours -- or the total for gigawatt hours, I guess, is 39,165, which is not even close to the 41-and-change that we were talking about before.  So I take it this is done on a different basis?


MR. BUT:  As I mentioned earlier, this number shown on page 4 is at the end‑user level and also ‑‑ and that the number we showed earlier, we were talking about earlier, is at the purchase level.  The difference would be the loss.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the difference would be line losses?


MR. BUT:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, you could calculate your line losses exactly just by subtracting one from the other?


MR. BUT:  We have been using the line losses approved by the Board in charging our customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  So the relationship between 39 and 41 reflects that calculation by rate classes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  So are -- these numbers in H1‑26, are they measured numbers or are they calculated numbers based on your overall load?


MR. BUT:  These are -- the number appears in our customer bills.  So these are what we call the billing information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are actuals?


MR. BUT:  These are actuals that we got from the meter of each of our customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the 41,489, or whatever the actual was, let's say, for that year, that is also a measured number?  That's the measured purchased power; right?


MR. BUT:  That is the purchased power we bought through IESO.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the difference between the two is your line losses; right?


MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're using a formula for calculating line losses, but that formula isn't anywhere in those two numbers, is it?  Those two numbers are actual numbers?


MR. BUT:  Those are actuals, right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the difference, then, is your actual line losses?


MR. BUT:  The difference reflects the line losses by rate class approved by the Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that leads me to another thing, which is this H1‑26, which is at the end-user level.  Do you have an equivalent breakdown for your 41,489 figure broken down by customer class?


MR. BUT:  No, we do not have that information at that detail.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't record that or you just haven't filed it?


MR. BUT:  Are you talking about the 2004?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm just working on actual now, because however you did the actual presumably will be the same for the forecasts; right?


MR. BUT:  Because we're talking about 2004, as you may know well, the 2004 information in terms of purchase is one number, one bill number; we bought power from IESO.  So by definition, there's no further details.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't break that out between classes?


MR. BUT:  It's not a matter of breaking it out.  We only receive one bill, total bill from IESO and that is the total energy that we bought from the market on behalf of our customers, including the embedded customer.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's good.  So I guess we have all this load forecast information, like for example in 

H3-13 and in your main evidence, which is based on your purchase load, right, but the real load that matters is the load you sell to your customer; right?  That's what you base your rates on; correct?
     MR. BUT:  Well, in a way they are the same, because that is the amount of energy we bought from the IESO from the market and that is the amount of energy that we will transmit to our customers.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The amount your customers pay for is going to be 2,000, 2,500 gigawatt hours less.
     MR. BUT:  That is based on the approved rate of losses approved by the Board.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you see, now I'm confused again.  I'm sorry.   You understand the load stuff is hard for lawyers.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, I agree.  At the same time, I'm not a legal person either.
     MR. ROGERS:  I taught him that myself, actually.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you said that we have two measured numbers.  We have the actual amount that the customer has paid for and then we have the actual amount that you paid IESO.
     MR. BUT:  We only have one number that we pay for the IESO and that is the amount of energy that we bought on an hour-by-an-hour basis for our customers.  When we charge our customers, of course they do not have -- they don't have a smart meter.  Everybody doesn't have a smart meter.  Therefore, we only collect that information on a monthly, bimonthly, or quarterly basis, and that is how we collect the consumptions and charge our customer.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The thing that's confusing me is this:  You have 41489, which is -- let's forget the fact that that's normalized just it for now.  Let's call that the real number for now.  And 41489 is what you paid IESO for.  That's the number; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we have this number 39165.  That's the number your customers actually paid for, your customers.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The difference is your line losses.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's no actual formula in there for an assumed line loss.  These are both actual numbers.
     MR. BUT:  We have used the line loss rates approved by the Board earlier in charging our customer with respect to line losses.  So therefore, in a way, there is a formula associated with line losses for each of the customer classes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  As you can see, I'm a bit confused.  Let me go onto something else.  Maybe I'll figure this out by osmosis at some point.
     Let me turn to the 2006 forecast generally.  You have basically two different forecasts; right?  You have the forecasts for the imbeddeds, which is a big number but it's a small revenue number, and then you have the forecasts for everything else, which you do internally; right?  And you do those two different forecasts separately; right?
     MR. BUT:  For each of our customer classes, we have different models that we use to do the forecast, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Imbedded, let's start with the imbedded.  How do you do the forecasts for the imbedded?  You're not using your econometric models for that; right?
     MR. BUT:  For the imbedded customer, with respect to the details of the load forecast, we have provided that answer, that response in your response to Exhibit H, tab 3, and 13, and in particular with respect to answer to H and I.  For H, we talk about the econometric model that we use for the imbedded LDCs, and for I, we talk about the method we take for the imbedded directs.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And these are completely separate from -- your main evidence talks about your two econometric models and your end-use model and how you get your forecast; right?  The A14-3.
     MR. BUT:  In A14-3, we talk about the forecasting methodology in general that we use.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you talk about two econometric models and an end-use model; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you don't use those models for the imbedded LDCs or the imbedded directs.  You use a different econometric model and a customer-by-customer estimate for imbeddeds; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  The econometric model we use for the imbedded customers is different from the econometric model, for example, that we use for Hydro One Network customers, yes, and that information is provided in detail in Exhibit H3-13, under, as I mentioned earlier, H and I.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then let's go to your main evidence, A14-3.  And you have two econometric models, a monthly and an actual econometric model; right?  I'm starting at page 12 of A14-3.  Do you have that, Mr. But?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, I have that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a monthly econometric model and you have an annual econometric model.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  And we have also provided the detailed information with respect to the modelling that we use in H3-13, under E.  In the attachment, we have all the modelling information with respect to the monthly model, and we also provide in the attachment all the detailed information we use in the annual model.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You provided Mr. Seal with many hours of fun with that data.  Thank you.
     Let's start with your monthly model.  The monthly model has two variables that drive it; right?  One is Ontario GDP and the other is building permits; correct?
     MR. BUT:  That is correct.  In addition to those two variables, as you can see on page 13 of Exhibit A, tab 

14-3, we also have other variables as well.  Following the Ontario GDP and residential building permit, we also have the dummy variable for the summer and winter, the ice storm, blackout, and other load patterns and market openings.  So there are other variables used as well in the equations.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But let me go at this more slowly, because it’s harder for me.  Building permits is your proxy for housing starts for new housing.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have also this dummy variable for shift and load pattern.  Can you tell me what this is?
     MR. BUT:  We realized that there is a data shift when we do the analysis, and that is the reason why we put a dummy variable, to take care of the shift.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's in 1997, you say, there was a data shift.
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the cause of that shift, do you know?
     MR. BUT:  We don't know.  It's something that can be related to data, that the data have changed.  But if we know that there is a specific reason related to it, we will have used a specific dummy variable just to capture the shift.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what was the shift in load pattern that you saw that caused you to put in this variable?
     MR. BUT:  If you look at the details of the information that was used in the attachment under H3-13 E, and under the monthly model, I think you can see that.
MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at H3‑13, attachment E, page 3.


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is a page of numbers.


MR. BUT:  Right.  And if you look at, in particular ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just telling you it's less than obvious to me what the shift in load pattern is, but it's probably just me.  Perhaps you can explain.


MR. BUT:  If you look at page 7, in particular, starting in 1997 we put a variable of 1 instead of 0, and that's how we took care of the shift in the model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is actually page 8 on mine where you have that.


MR. BUT:  Page 7 of 8, under attachment E.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mine says:  “Page 8 of 9.”


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, as does ours.


MR. BUT:  Okay.  The title is "Dummy variable for shift in load pattern".


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So I see where the dummy variable is, but I don't see in the raw data where that shift occurred and what kind of shift it was.  Did load go up?  Did it go down?  Did it change its pattern over the year?  What is it that you're adjusting for with this dummy variable?


MR. BUT:  If you go back, if you go to page 1 of the attachment E, on the left‑hand side, that is the detailed data actual for 1997.  And based on our analysis, since 1997 there was a shift, and that is the reason why we used the dummy variable, to take care of the change in load pattern.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what is the shift?  Is it up or down?  Is it ‑‑ what kind of shift is it?  Because I don't see a shift there, so I'm asking for you to help me on this.


MR. BUT:  Well, the shift in this case, as you can see, in 1996 the number on the left‑hand side you have is 22,167, and for 1997 you have 22,382.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't look like a shift in pattern to me, sorry.


MR. BUT:  When we do the analysis, we try -- it's difficult to explain why there's a change of this nature, and that's the reason why we put a dummy variable in the equations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm looking at the period of actual data after 1996, and it looks very similar to the data before 1996.  So I guess I still don't know the answer to the question:  Do you think load shifted upwards or downwards in 1997?


MR. BUT:  Based on our modelling experience, I think the information presented over here, that's based on the analysis.  We foresee that there is a shift and that is the reason why we put in a dummy variable, to take care of the change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. But, I'm trying to get the answer to a simpler question, and that is:  Do you think load went up or down?


MR. BUT:  Well, as you can see from the data on the left‑hand side, right now the information presented here for 1997 is an increase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I should assume that the average from 1997 to 2004 should be higher than the average for the previous years, the actuals; right?


MR. BUT:  Well, it all depends on the ‑‑ well, the information in terms of on an actual and on a weather-corrected basis, and there's a lot of changes.  For example, the year after 1997 we have an ice storm impact, and that is the reason why you see a sudden drop.  So that is the reason why we also put a dummy variable in the equation, to take care of the ice storm impact.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So with this dummy variable, then, your forecast for 2006 is higher than it would otherwise be; is that right?


MR. BUT:  It's not necessarily higher, but I do not have the fine modelling result here with me, because -- but in order to ‑‑ we identified there is a data shift in 1997 and we don't know what caused that, and that's the reason why we put in a dummy variable.  And that is a very typical method, using econometric, to take care of the analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's true.  And I understand that when you're trying to fit a line to data, you have to create a formula that causes the line to fit; right?


MR. BUT:  Right.  Because overall, we are talking about the overall -- whether the R-squared would improve or not improve, and that is the reason why we cannot isolate a particular variable in this particular case, the load shift, whether it is causing an increase or decrease, because we identified the need to do that from a modelling point of view and we put that in to improve the overall modelling performance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have ‑‑ I can understand that you have a variable in your model that you don't know what it's for, that you don't know the cause of that influence.  You're making the data fit.  I have a hard time understanding a variable that you don't know what it does.


MR. BUT:  Well, this is a very common approach in econometrics, to put a dummy variable to take care of information that we do not exactly know.  For example, in some situations we put in a dummy variable to take care of technological change and, for example, in this case, how can one associate what kind of technological change we're talking about.  So in econometrics, using dummy variable is a really acceptable way to take care of data irregularities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And isn't it also true that in econometrics when you put in a dummy variable, you're fitting the data and you know what impact it has - not what it causes, but what impact it has - on your forecasts; isn't that right?


MR. BUT:  Yes, that's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm asking you what the impact of this dummy variable is on your forecasts, and I heard you say you don't know?


MR. BUT:  No, I did not say I do not know, but this is one of the many variables that we use in the equations.  And now you're asking me about one specific variable that we use, and it's very difficult for me to say in certainty that that particular variable will cause whatever interaction, effect, within the equation.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. But, is it a positive coefficient or a negative coefficient to that dummy variable?


MR. BUT:  We can see that in the equations that we provided in the exhibit.  And when I refer you to    Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 3, and under line 1, I think that variable D97, I think the coefficient shows that is a positive coefficient.


MR. VLAHOS:  So a positive coefficient, if I put it in my formula, then it gives me a higher than otherwise forecast for 2000 --


MR. BUT:  That should be the case.


MR. VLAHOS:  So that's the answer to Mr. Shepherd five minutes ago.


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos.  You don't know how much I appreciate that.


MR. VLAHOS:  You have taken back 20 years in econometrics.


MS. NOWINA:  And you can do that as often as you want, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go to your two main variables, because I'm obviously not doing well on dummy variables.  

You used both Ontario GDP and building permits, and I guess our question was:  Aren't they both largely measurements of economic activity and the health of the economy?  Don't they measure very similar things?


MR. BUT:  We have tried different formulations, different variables in our questions and answers, and we found that these two variables, the GDP and the building permit, performs well, the best, and that is the reason why, based on that criteria, we selected those two variables.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the problems is if you have two variables that measure similar things, it's hard to justify treating them as if they independently affect your result; right?  Why would they independently affect if they have common causes?
     MR. BUT:  For economic data, I would disagree with your statement because the economic variable will be related one way or the other.  For example, did the Ontario GDP capture the total economy while the residential building permit captured, in particular, the building cycle in the economy.  So in a way, you can say that they're related but they're different things.  And so I do not think that it is not appropriate to use both variables in the equations.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  There's tests you can do to see whether they actually correlate; right?
     MR. BUT:  Our econometrician has done all the necessary tests to see whether there is correlation and analysis, and we have done that and that is the reason why we used these variables, because they're found to be appropriate.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, the other thing about this model is that it's weather-normalized; right?  You take the actual data and then you normalize it first -- monthly model, you normalize it first with weather with the result that your forecasts coming out will also naturally be normalized because it's based on a normalized data set; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's one way of normalizing the forecast is to normalize the input.  You can also normalize the output, right?  You can do either way?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, it’s 10:45.  Did you wish to break at this point?
     MS. NOWINA:  If it's an appropriate time.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's fine for me.
     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that.  We'll break until 11:00. 

--- Recess taken at 10.45 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:02 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any matters that came up during the break?  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  I just gave Mr. Rogers an exhibit that we intend to introduce.  The reason I'm introducing it now is I understand Mr. Shepherd may want to refer to it during his cross‑examination, and I've given copies to Board Staff, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we distribute those, then, and have it marked as an exhibit?


MR. ROGERS:  I'll just observe now, Madam Chair, if I might, that I just got this now.  The witnesses have not seen it and I do ask that people, please, if they intend to use exhibits like this, to give us advance notice of it.  It will save a lot of time.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  I understand it's not within the time frame established by the rules.  It's just pulling together information from two different IRs just to have them on one spreadsheet.  Hopefully that won't cause the witnesses too much trouble.


MR. ROGERS:  I can't comment.  Let's see how we do with this, but an e‑mail Sunday night to the office is not likely to catch my attention.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I acknowledge that.


MR. ROGERS:  We'll try our best.  In future, I just ask that people let us have it further in advance.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  We will allow it, but if you run into problems with it, Mr. Rogers, we'll have to come back to it.  

Mr. DeVellis and all parties, it's early in the proceeding.  We all know the rules about this and it cuts both ways.  So if everyone could give as much notice as possible for the witness panels, we'd appreciate it.


Any other matters?


MS. CAMPBELL:  We should give this an exhibit number.  This would be VECC Exhibit K1.1, average consumption per customer, 2004‑2006.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  AVERAGE CONSUMPTION PER CUSTOMER

2004-2006.

MS. NOWINA:  And do you have copies of those for the panel?  

Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  There was one other matter that I wanted to mention.  You will see that we have our coffees with us.  Any of you on future breaks who want to bring your coffees back with you, feel free.  Just don't spill them on anything.  

Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


Let me turn to your -- Mr. But, to your second econometric model, and please tell me if you're having some trouble hearing me.  I understand it was difficult before because of the fan.  So just pipe up if I'm being too ‑‑


MR. BUT:  Can you speak a little bit louder?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll do my best.  I'm so soft-spoken.


MR. ROGERS:  I've asked Mr. Shepherd to speak up and I've asked Mr. But to answer more directly.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, maybe you can raise your mike.  I was having a little difficulty, as well.  When the fan is on, it is difficult.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So now I've turned to page 14 of your evidence, and this is another econometric model, Mr. But.


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what you're doing is you're sort of triangulating.  You have two models.  If they produce similar models, then that gives you confidence in either one, right, or both of them?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.  In addition to the econometric model monthly, we also have annual model as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come to that.  This one is driven by personal disposable income, energy price and degree days; right?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  Those are the ‑‑ some of the available data were used in the equation, as you can see from page 14 and 15.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you also have a couple of dummy variables there.  One of them is annexation of retail customers.  I'll leave that one alone.  But indeed with some fear, I'll ask you about the TR variable, which is your dummy variable, which I understand is for a shift in growth of load from '89 on ‑‑ or in '89 or prior to; is that right?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  At '89, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell me about that one?


MR. BUT:  Again, this goes back to the same question you asked when we did the data analysis as part of a usual way of working with econometric model.  We observed that in 1989 there was a change in the growth patterns, and that's the reason why we give you a dummy variable, in order to achieve better regression results.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's actually two variables; right?  It's one variable with a negative coefficient and another variable with a positive coefficient; is that right?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  They basically achieve the same thing.  One is a TR variable, a dummy variable.  The other is TR squared, which is the square of that.  It just gives you a more dynamic profile.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you helpfully provided us in H3‑13, attachment E, page 1 with the actual numbers for these variables; isn't that right?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You can take a look at that, H3‑13, attachment E, page 1.  And so this ‑‑ which one is it?  The TR variable is the negative, and then the TR squared variable is the positive?


MR. BUT:  TR is negative.  TR square is positive, yes.  They are both ‑‑ one is negative, one is positive, yes, as you can see from page 15.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are C8 and C9, aren't they?


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are the two coefficients on A14, schedule 3, page 15?  Is that where you're referring to?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to ‑‑ you don't know what the reason is for the shift in load pattern, do you?


MR. BUT:  We do not know, because this is the 1989 we are talking about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what this is is basically it's a plug to get the thing to fit, right, the data to fit?


MR. BUT:  Well, it's not a plug to keep the data fit per se.  It's a necessary means in econometric analysis to come up with better regression results so that the variances can be explained.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  And I take it the effect of this is to flatten the plane of your estimates; is that right?  What you're doing with this variable - and tell me whether this is right or not - is it tends to shift the angle of the line in the fitted data so that it will fit more exactly?


MR. BUT:  I think that is a correct statement, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the effect of it is to make the angle a lesser angle.  It's a flatter plane to fit the data; is that right?


MR. BUT:  Well, what this will do is basically give us a polynomial function, that is, instead of going a straight line.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, except that it only goes until 1989, and then after that it's a fixed amount; right?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  That means the change was observed in 1989 and no further change observed after that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And do you know what the impact of this is on your load forecast?


MR. BUT:  The impact will be insignificant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We tried to run your model without this variable and it's, like, five figures different.  Have you tried to run it without this variable?


MR. BUT:  I would assume -- I do not know, because I have not have a chance to talk to my econometrician, but I would assume that the model that we presented here is the best model we found with the percent for the forecast with respect to the history and with respect to the forecast.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, what do you mean by “five figures different”?


MR. SHEPHERD:  We actually got 20,000 gigawatt hours' difference between running the model with it or without it.  So that's, like, ridiculous.  It's a ridiculous number.  So I'm asking to get a sense of what the actual impact is.  That can't be the impact.


MR. BUT:  Personally I have not run the model without those variables, so I could not answer you right now directly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that?


MR. ROGERS:  What's involved ‑‑ what's involved,    Mr. But, in running a model?  Everybody in the room knows except me.  Does it take weeks?  Does it take ten minutes?  What's involved?


MR. BUT:  It would take some time in order to make sure that all the numbers are being done properly.


MR. ROGERS:  This is the kind of thing that should be done through interrogatory, Madam Chair.  I'm not prepared to take an undertaking if it's going to take a great deal of work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, two things.  First of all, we only knew that this was a problem because of answers to interrogatories, so we couldn't have asked it on interrogatories.  Secondly, I take Mr. Rogers' point:  If it's a lot of work, it's not in the interests of anybody.  It's not a big enough point for us to insist on the undertaking.  So we're happy to withdraw it if it's too much work.

MR. ROGERS:  That’s fair enough.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this model also weather corrects; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it does in a different way?
     MR. BUT:  Well, because we have the heating and cooling as part of the equation, and so by having the weather normal cooling and heating degree days and that the forecasts will be weather normal.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  And that's a different way of weather-normalizing than in your first model; right?  Your first model simply weather-normalizes all the input data, and then therefore your output is, by nature, weather-normalized.  The second one has an express term for heating and cooling degree days; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why did you use a different method for weather-normalizing in one as opposed to the other?
     MR. BUT:  Well, the short-term model makes use of much finer information on a monthly basis, while the annual model is, as the model name implies -- is using annual information.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the other thing about the second model, this annual model, is that it has energy prices; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's electricity price; right?  Electricity and natural gas.
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That allows you to estimate direct price elasticity and cross price elasticity; right?
     MR. BUT:  If it is available, we will take into consideration of the interaction with high energy prices of natural gas.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It also allows you to estimate elasticity numbers; correct?

MR. BUT:  I would assume, yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you estimated those?
     MR. BUT:  I do not have that information right now with me.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know whether Hydro has that information?
     MR. BUT:  In the model, we potentially could have that information, but again, I cannot say a clear yes or no because I do not have that information with me right now.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then I just want to spend a couple of minutes on the end-use model.  The end-use model takes a different approach, right?  It builds from the bottom up?
     MR. BUT:  Yes.  The econometric model is top down; end-use model is bottom up.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you described them in your evidence.  I see at page 17, for example, you talk about your residential end-use model. And it seems like it has three components for each of them.  It has three components.  It has the base number of households, the end-use share, and the amount of energy that particular end use is assumed to use up; right?
     MR. BUT:  That is correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what you do is you start with the number of households from 2004 and you adjust that to 2006; is that right?
     MR. BUT:  Can you repeat your question.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  For the number of household components, you take the 2004 actual and you adjust it to 2006; right?
     MR. BUT:  We apply growth rates, if that's what you mean.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And those growth rates are based on a provincial end-use model.  Is that your model or provincial government model?
     MR. BUT:  When we mentioned provincial model, we meant the model that we use for the province instead of just Hydro One Networks.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's a Hydro One model.
     MR. BUT:  It's a Hydro One model.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do we have somewhere in the evidence the numbers for this?  Did you provide that?
     MR. BUT:  We provided all the details in H3-13 under F, in the attachment.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that what F is?
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.
     MR. BUT:  In F, we provided the details of the end-use calculation by sector for the residential, 

commercial-industrial, as well as the agricultural consumers.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Excellent.  And so let me take the second component, then, is the usage.  And you don't use 2004 actual usage; you don't have measurements from 2004 of the percentage market share for individual end uses, do you?
     MR. BUT:  What the use is is how much that end use or equipment use in terms of electricity is, and that is what you're talking about is share.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I'm talking about market share, sorry.
     MR. BUT:  Okay.  Market share is, in our industry, what we call the saturation rate of the equipment, how many 

air-conditioning units, how many water heaters you have in our territories.  That is market shares.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What percentage of household will have an air-conditioner, for example; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right, exactly.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't use 2004 actuals for that?
     MR. BUT:  No.  Our model has taken the trend of the end use share into consideration.  For example, 

air-conditioning, you expect that to be increasing because all the new houses would have air-conditioning while the older houses would not have as much air-conditioning units.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is driven by things like housing starts and GDP and disposable income, those sorts of variables; right?
     MR. BUT:  You can say that, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you multiply that by the unit energy consumption to get that particular end use; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just trying to find that.
     MR. BUT:  And all the detailed information, as I mentioned, provided in H3-13, F.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the unit energy consumption, that's not a fixed number either.  You've adjusted that year by year.
     MR. BUT:  Right.  Of course it's not a fixed number.  It would be inappropriate to use a fixed number because as equipment turn over, the equipment would tend to be more efficient.  For example, an old refrigerator that we replace today would be 21 or 22 cubic type of refrigerator.  We are talking about using 700 kilowatt hours per year compared to an old refrigerator using 1,500 kilowatt hours per year.  So it's much more efficient.  

By the same token, air-conditioning equipment and lighting, all that is much more efficient.  So therefore it would be inappropriate to use a fixed estimate of the pass.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also weather-normalize the UEC figures; right?
     MR. BUT:  We do in our -- I think we are talking about two concepts here.  When we talk about the energy terms, we take out the abnormal weather effects.  That is what we call weather normalizations.  But in terms of once the base information is weather-corrected, then we do not do any further weather normalizations in the UEC as you just referenced.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have 2004 data for unit energy consumption for various uses like air-conditioning, for example; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you adjust that for the weather in 2004.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you estimate the delta to 2006, the changes to 2006 --
     MR. BUT:  Right.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in that use.  

MR. BUT:  Right.  But since our base year is 2004 is weather-corrected or weather-normal and therefore when we apply growth rates to a weather-corrected number, the forecast is weather-normal.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a database of changes in, for example, appliance efficiencies and stuff like that that helps you to estimate the changes?
     MR. BUT:  When we perform our modelling analysis, we look at the latest information with respect to saturation as well as efficiency.  Saturation information, for example, you look at the, as I documented already in response to your H3-13 -- we use appliances from Stat Canada.  And with respect to equipment efficiency, we use the information provided by NRCan.   So those are the usual information we look at as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you get these numbers, are these the result of a calculation, for example?  You've got residential air-conditioning going from 447 down to 430 over two years.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And -- in average use of a residential air-conditioner.  Do you do that through some sort of model that spits out 430 at the end of the day, or is it something that somebody exercises judgment; they say, Here's my input data, it looks like 430 is about right?
     MR. BUT:  No.  The analyst doing this particular analysis, he, himself, has more than 15 years in end-use analysis with a masters degree in engineering and has very good experience with respect to efficiency analysis.  So in terms of our analysis, we do the equipment in terms of central air‑conditioning as well as room air‑conditioning.  I think the number you mentioned is an average of the both.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but my question is actually a simpler one.  The final number, does it come from a model or does it come from the exercise of this guy that you're talking about, his judgment?


MR. BUT:  He is basically using available information with respect to efficiency improvements and we put it in the analysis.  So you can say, just like any other thing, forecasting is about judgment.  When you do the analysis, you have to apply some form of judgment as well because this is analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is a person who does calculations and comes up with a number, and that number is a number that he's developed rigorously, but nonetheless it is the exercise of that person's judgment as to what the right number is; is that correct?


MR. BUT:  I think that is a correct statement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Finally on these ‑‑ on the forecasts, I wonder if you could turn back to H3‑13, page 9.


MR. BUT:  Page 9?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Do you have that?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And if you look at the top of that page under the line 2006, you see the column "Retail Load Forecast", the number that comes out of the annual model, the number that comes out of the monthly model, and the number that comes out of the end use model.  Do you see that?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The thing that struck me -- I know I'm just a lawyer, but the thing that struck me was those are awful close.  You've got models that come from very different points of view and to have them within what looked to me to be like one/twenty-fifth of 1 percent is very, very close.  And if I were forecasting, I'd be saying:  Why is this?  


Did you ask:  Why are they so close?


MR. BUT:  I have asked that question, but I'm satisfied that the analysis clearly presents the results based on the assumption we put in.  We have demonstrated that we use different methods, econometric model in terms of monthly model, econometric model using annual model, as well as end-use analysis.  And the fact that they are close only means that we have good models.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've been doing forecasting for 20‑odd years, Mr. But?


MR. BUT:  We have been doing forecasting for many years and the analysts with me are also doing these forecasts for many years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you often see different models producing results within one/twenty-fifth of 1 percent?  Is that a common thing.


MR. BUT:  It depends on what kind of model and what kind of assumption you are talking about.  If you are using consistent information, consistent economic information, I don't see that to be a problem to have very close results.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the other possibility is that all of these models end up being driven by some particular data, some particular variable.  That's producing the same number in each case two different ways; right?


MR. BUT:  I would say that that is an incorrect statement, because to the best of my knowledge that practice has not been done at all in our forecasting group.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn back to page 3 of this interrogatory response.  This is H3‑13, page 3.


MR. BUT:  Page 3, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm looking here (ii).  It's a chart headed up "2004 Actual and Weather-Corrected Sales For Retail Customers".  Do you see that?


 MR. BUT:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I added up the weather-corrected sales and it's 21,418.  Would you accept that subject to check?


MR. BUT:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I look at your actuals on page 9 and they're 22,937.


MR. BUT:  On page?


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 9 of the same IR, your actuals for 2004 are 22,937.


MR. BUT:  On page 9 of H3‑13?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So I'm wondering whether the reason for that is that 22,937 is how much you bought from IESO and 21,418 is how much you sold to your customers.


MR. BUT:  That is correct, because, as you can see, this is the sales that we are talking about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I just want to ‑‑ this is going to sound very simplistic, but go back to page 9 for a second.  One of the variables you use in your main model, the monthly econometric model, is Ontario GDP; right?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're currently projecting 2.9 percent increase in Ontario GDP in 2006?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking down here at your sensitivities, and it says a 1 percent change in Ontario GDP, the impact on your load is 106 gigawatt hours.


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so to my simple mind, that means 2.9 percent is 307 gigawatt hours; is that right?


MR. BUT:  That is not correct, because you are now ‑‑ this is a sensitivity analysis of an incremental percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  You cannot just apply these sensitivity analyses to the forecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it's not a linear equation?


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I ‑‑


MR. BUT:  This is a sensitivity analysis of the forecast, and then you make a change in one assumption.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  The forecast was based on many variables.  So in this particular sensitivity analysis, we are only talking about changing one particular variable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that 307 gigawatt hours, that is not the right number.  It's got to be something more than 106; right?


MR. BUT:  I think that's a fair assumption.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, I'm looking at the housing forecast where it says 1,000 units of housing building permits means 12 gigawatt hours.  I can't multiply that by 70,000, your estimate for 2006, to get the impact on your load forecast, can I?


MR. BUT:  No, you're correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you know what the impact on your load forecasts are of these two variables; right?


MR. BUT:  This and other variables.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to tell me what your load forecast would be at zero GDP.  Will you undertake to provide that, zero change in GDP?


MR. BUT:  What do you mean by “zero change in GDP”?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've estimated 2.9 per cent.  I'm saying zero percent.


MR. BUT:  It would be a negative value.  Zero GDP means there's no growth.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  That means -- I don't have a number with me right now, but if you have no economic growth at all, I would say it would be fair to say that it will show a negative growth at the end.


MS. NOWINA:  Why is that helpful, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What we're going to try to do, Madam Chair, is we're going to try to show the various components of the load forecast.  We think the load forecast is substantially low, and we're going to try to show the various components and how they're pushing it to identify the areas that are causing it to be low.  We're going to get to a couple of those in a second.  One of them that is causing it to move up is 2.9 percent GDP, and another one is housing starts.  Other ones that will cause it to go down will be things like reducing average uses.  We're going to try to dis-aggregate that to the extent we can.  I know it's difficult.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And the effort required to make the undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  I'm just wondering if we can have it all at once here.  We're well over the hour and I know it's not all Mr. Shepherd.  There's been some long answers, too, but if we could have maybe all the variables that Mr. Shepherd wants, and I'll ask the witness what's involved and we can see whether we can give an undertaking, all the changes he would like us to make.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The only undertaking I'm asking for is GDP.


MS. NOWINA:  This is the only one?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But, would that be something that can be done relatively quickly?


MR. BUT:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. ROGERS:  In that case, I make the undertaking.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So that is undertaking J1.2, and that is to rerun the model with a zero GDP.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Zero change.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  A zero change GDP. 

MR. BUT:  For 2006.

MS. CAMPBELL:  For 2006.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2: TO RERUN THE MODEL WITH A ZERO

GDP. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. But, I'm now looking at VECC Exhibit K1.1 which was filed just a little while ago.  You've actually -- it's correct, isn't it, that on Friday you saw similar information to that from School Energy Coalition in a spreadsheet?
     MR. BUT:  I received an e-mail on Friday night, and subject to checking, if you say that they are the same, I accept that they're the same.
     MR. ROGERS:  Just take a moment.  You don't have to compare all the numbers.  

I just would like the witness to take a moment, Madam Chair, to take a look at this - he hasn't seen it before - make sure he's comfortable with this and make sure he knows what it is before he goes down this road.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.
     MR. ROGERS:  If you understand what this shows - and it looks reasonable to me - then that's fine -- to you, then that's fine.
     MR. BUT:  Mr. Shepherd, could you explain what you have done in this table.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This table, which is a simpler version of what we sent you on Friday, just shows the average uses per customer –- the average load per customer class per month from your data and the change in it over 2004 to 2006.
     MR. BUT:  Based on a quick scan on the information, are they the same numbers that you sent on Friday night?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, they are.
     MR. BUT:  Okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at columns 4 and 5 of this, and they look to me to be identical to figures you reported in H1-26 for those particular years; is that right?
     MR. BUT:  H1-26?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. BUT:  I think in addition to H1-26, I think you are also using number in H5-16 as well.  Is that correct, Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I was just dealing with columns 4 and 5 at the beginning.  Column 3, you're right, calculates the same numbers for -- with the normalized data that you provided in H5-16; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  Okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason is because H1-26 for 2004 is actual, rather than normalized; right?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in order to calculate the average kilowatt hours per customer per month, you would take the number of -- the megawatt hours times a thousand, divided by the number of customers, divided by 12; isn't that right?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.  I guess based on your calculations.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So subject to finding any errors in the numbers, it's correct, isn't it, that in most classes you're expecting that average uses will go -- are going to go down from 2004 actuals to 2006 forecasts; right?
     MR. BUT:  That is correct.  This reflects two impacts.  One would be the natural efficiency due to change in equipment, as I mentioned earlier, and the second impact is the CDM effects we assume for the test year for 2006.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's interesting, because I was going to get to CDM, but you did -- at the end of your forecasting process, you then deducted an amount for CDM; right?
     MR. BUT:  In our forecast for the test year, CDM impact was taken out, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you telling me that the numbers in H1-26 for 2005 and 2006 have your CDM adjustment already built into them?
     MR. BUT:  The tables and information we provided for 2005 and 2006 in Exhibit H1-26, they have CDM effects imbedded already.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So 194 --
     MR. BUT:  194 gigawatt hours.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Then I'm going to actually skip to that, then, and ask you:  Can you undertake to provide us with the 2006 numbers and the 2005 numbers showing the amount of the adjustment, the CDM adjustment, by class?
     MR. ROGERS:  Is that something that -- by class, is that readily available?
     MR. BUT:  This is, again, quite a bit of analysis as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  With the greatest of respect, Madam Chair, my friend -- the witness just said that they have built that number, 194 gigawatt hours, into lease 

line-by-line numbers.  The only way to build it in is to deduct it somewhere.  The numbers must be on a desk somewhere back at Hydro.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think, Mr. Rogers, this may be relevant information.
     MR. ROGERS:  Well, yes.  All right.  I will.  I'll have to advise the Board.  I don't know when that can be available.  Let me talk to the witness after.
     MS. NOWINA:  Best efforts.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, so I can understand how information arrives, you want it by rate classification.  To the extent that we're dealing with the revenue requirement part of it, the first phase, I'm just wondering the use of the per-rate classification.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what we're going to do,        Mr. Vlahos, is we're going to compare that by-rate class to the average uses per-rate class that are in the evidence already to see how much is coming from their CDM programs and how much is coming from their assumed natural efficiencies in the marketplace.  And the result will help us to understand whether that 194 gigawatt hours is the correct number or what.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  I understand.  You want to compare the totals, but you're going to go through the individual groupings?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The only way to understand where the adjustment is correct is to see who they're applying it to.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  So that would be Undertaking J1.3 and using interrogatory H1-26 to show the CDM load adjustment by rate class for the years 2005 and 2006.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  show CDM load adjustment by Rate class for the years 2005 and 2006 using interrogatory H1-26.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I'm instructed that the 194 relates only to 2006, so I don't know that it can be done for 2005.
     MS. NOWINA:  I understood that there was a CDM adjustment for 2005 as well.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, we have.
     MR. ROGERS:  But a different number, I assume.
     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  So it's two.
     MR. ROGERS:  As long as we're aware it's a different number.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a couple of other things I want to ask you about, witnesses.  The first is the relationship between housing starts and customer adds.  This was a little confusing for me.  One of the key drivers of your load is your customer adds; right?  If you add more customers, that will tend to drive up load?


MR. BUT:  That's one variable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, your end‑use models depend on numbers of households; right?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you know the sensitivity of your load forecast of customer adds?  I looked at the sensitivity numbers you gave us and we didn't ask for customer adds, but I would have thought that's one of the key ones.  Do you know what your sensitivity is?


MR. BUT:  In weighing your interrogatory response under H3‑13 K, when you asked the question about the sensitivity with respect to 1,000 unit change in housing forecast.  That in a way you can say is a change of customer for the residential customer as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you have a 1,000 unit change in customer adds, it's 12 gigawatt hours?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  That is based on the assumption that, on average, we're talking about 1,000 kilowatt hours per month.


MR. COWAN:  There's an interrogatory, H1-28, that does show change for 1,000 houses higher.  It quantifies the data.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but I guess here's my concern.  The customer adds are 8,100.  Your housing starts are 70,000.  So I would have thought your sensitivities would be different for the two numbers, wouldn't they?  A thousand difference in each has the same impact?


MR. BUT:  A thousand ‑‑ if we're talking about 1,000 customers, I'm using this as an example to demonstrate the sensitivity -- unless I got your question wrong.  Could you repeat your question again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've said in H3‑13, page 9, that if housing starts go up or down by 1,000 -- and that's out of your 70,000 estimate.  If they go up or down by -- if the delta is 1,000 on that, then that will have a 12-gigawatt-hour impact?


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have an estimate at 8,100 customer adds; correct?


MR. BUT:  For 2006, right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying that a 1,000-unit change in that is 12 gigawatt hours?


MR. BUT:  It's 12 gigawatt hours.  We addressed that in Exhibit H1‑28 response already.  Board Staff asked this question:  What's the expected impact for change in 1,000 number customers?  And we provided the answer in here already.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, see, this is housing starts.  It's not number of customers.  I'm looking at H1-28.  It's the same as in H3-13.


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about housing starts.  I'm asking about number of customers, customer adds.


MR. BUT:  But the assumption we use is the average consumption of a customer, and that's the reason why I was saying a moment ago the average customer is about 1,000 kilowatt hours a month, and, therefore, it's 12,000 a year.  And 1,000 of that number is 1.2 gigawatt hours.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm now completely confused.  Your sensitivity for housing starts is 12 gigawatt hours for a 1,000 variation; right?


MR. BUT:  The sensitivity is what is the difference if you have 1,000 customers less.  As I mentioned earlier, this is more or less the same assumptions, if you assume that on average one customer is 12,000 kilowatt hours a year and 1,000 customers is 1.2 gigawatt hours.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually quite confused, Madam Chair.  I'm going to ask the witness, just so that we have a clear record, if he can undertake to provide us with the sensitivity for a particular -- let's say, a 1,000 change in customer adds.


MR. COWAN:  I think that answer is provided at H1-28, Mr. Shepherd.  It says that if we have 1,000 houses higher -- and I assume that's customers.


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. COWAN:  Then the impact is 1.2 gigawatt hours of additional load.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's my confusion.  You have an estimate for housing starts of 70,000.  You have an estimate for customer adds of 8,100.  They're not the same number.


MR. COWAN:  Correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. But, but I assume the housing start forecast is the total Ontario provincial average?


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. COWAN:  Hydro One does not serve the entire province.  There's 90 other LDCs that serve residential customers.  That would be included in the 70,000 additions.  Therefore, Hydro One's customer base, we have to remember, is very unique.  It's a rural system.  And, therefore, our customer adds will be significantly less than the housing starts for the provincial forecast.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, for the purpose of showing changes, wouldn't you accept that whether it's number of customers or number of housing starts, it doesn't really matter for purposes of marginal analysis?  I presume your submission will be that the Board should adjust it by X, and the Board's job would be to find out what is the revenue associated with that X change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the problem is that the witnesses appear to be saying that the delta on housing starts is the same as the delta on customer adds.


MR. VLAHOS:  My point is ‑‑ I understand there's a difference between housing starts and customers, okay.  It's a timing thing.  I understand that part of it.  But in terms of changes, it doesn't matter for purposes of quantifying what the Board -‑ sorry, by how much the Board ought to adjust the requirement given one unit.  Let's forget the 1,000; just one unit, per unit of change in the customer addition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, for example, Mr. Vlahos,       Mr. Cowan just made clear that the 70,000 estimate of housing starts is for the whole province and only a small part of that is in the Hydro One area, which is why their customer ad figures are different, of course.  But they've estimated that their load is impacted by 12 gigawatt hours by a change of 1,000 in the housing start number provincially.  So therefore, the number for a change in customer adds must be significantly higher.  We just don't know what it is, because they haven't told us.


MR. COWAN:  I think the confusion, Mr. Shepherd, is the housing starts change of 1,000 that's applicable to the Hydro One service territory.  As Mr. Vlahos is trying to say, it's the same number.  It's 1,000.  If 70,000 is the housing start forecast and suddenly, let's say, it's 75,000, of which 1,000 of that 5,000 increment is attributable to the Hydro One service territory, then we would have 1,000 additional customers, and that 1,000 additional customers would translate to the 1.2 gigawatt hours.  I think that would help clarify it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'll let that go.


You have estimated that you'll add 8,100 new customers in 2006?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your 2002 to 2004 average customer ads were 13,000 a year; right?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're estimating a drop because of lower housing starts?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.  I think we provided that response in the Board Staff interrogatory as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  In H1-27.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And so here's my confusion.  You're projecting housing starts to drop by 17 per cent.  You're projecting adds to drop by -- it looks to me like about 40 per cent.  Why?


MR. BUT:  Because Hydro One is benefitting less from the existing housing boom.  Most of the houses are in -- the 84,000 houses that we have on an annual basis right now for the province, most of that are in the 905 and GTA area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On page 7 of your evidence, the A14‑3, you say the reason why your customer adds are down is because of your lower housing start estimate.


MR. BUT:  Right.  That is on a provincial basis.  The housing starts are coming down.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I'm looking at it and I'm saying that can't be the reason why you have such a big drop, because that's only a 17 percent drop.  You're customer adds would still be almost 11,000; right?  If you have the same drop, 17 percent, you'd still be at close to 11,000 in customer adds for 2006.  So the main reason for your drop in customer adds, I take it you're saying, is that your housing starts in your franchise area are going to go down more than the provincial average; is that right?
     MR. BUT:  The drop will be about the same, because Hydro One is different from the GTA area.  We do not benefit substantially from the growth currently that we experience.  But in the forecast period, when they drop, we expect about the same kind of drop.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have housing start estimates for the province and then for the Hydro One area separately?
     MR. BUT:  We have an estimate for -- well, we do not have an estimate of a different housing start for Hydro One territory and for the province.  We have an estimate of the share of the housing start for our customers.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Which you could then calculate your housing starts as compared to the rest of the province; right?
     MR. BUT:  Right, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying your share of the housing starts are going to go down from 2004 to 2006?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so can you tell us what those numbers are, your share in 2004, your share in 2005, your share in 2006?
     MS. NOWINA:  In terms of percentage, Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Percentage is fine.
     MR. BUT:  I do not have that information with me, but we did the analysis with response to the Board Staff interrogatory H127.  We did the analysis and we confirmed the information we used is the appropriate information that should be used.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have this information; you can provide it.
     MR. BUT:  It will be in the spreadsheets, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can get an undertaking for you to provide the Hydro One percentage of housing starts for 2004, 2005, and 2006.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we'll do that.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  So the undertaking would be J1.4, and it would be the Hydro One percentage of change in the housing starts for 2004.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, percentage of housing starts.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  Percentage of housing starts.  So the Hydro One percentage of housing starts for the years 2004, 2005, and 2006.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4: Hydro One percentage of housing

starts for 2004, 2005 and 2006.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, my last area of questioning in what has been a very long -- I apologize, Madam Chair, much too long cross -- is your C&DM adjustment.  And you've said in A14-3 that you're adjusting by 194 gigawatt hours; right?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But then I looked -- and by the way, that's not just for your programs.  That's also -- you appear to be saying that's also the impact of government directives and industry progress; right?
     MR. BUT:  That is correct.  And we have provided the information in response to H1-25.  We provided details about how that 194 was calculated.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And how you calculated that was you didn't actually look at what your programs will produce by themselves; right?  You looked at overall how much C&DM you expected to have in your area and you assume your programs will be some of it and government actions will be another part of it.
     MR. BUT:  That is correct.  In addition to Hydro One program, we would expect to have provincial program, OPA programs, as well as federal government program from NRCan.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in addition to the 194 gigawatt hours for your load, you also have an adjustment of 157 gigawatt hours for the imbeddeds; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was done the same way?
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that is correct.  And we provided that answer, the details in response to H2, tab 32.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the last thing I want to ask about is LRAM, and my friend Mr. Poch is going to deal with this mainly.  But I'm just going to ask you a simple question.  You haven't asked for an LRAM; is that correct?
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.  We have not.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if it turns out that your estimate of 351 gigawatt hours for C&DM adjustment is too high, an LRAM would require you to give back some money to the ratepayers; right?
     MR. COWAN:  In theory, yes.  But our concern, as I indicated in our opening direct, is far too premature at this stage to try to establish an effective LRAM concept without first understanding the details behind what our pilot programs will deliver, not only in terms of take-up rates, but also the impact.  An LRAM model in and by itself requires significant analysis and detail, and for that reason we do not support an introduction of an LRAM for the 2006 test year.  We think it needs more time and a generic hearing is the best way to establish how an LRAM should run, but you also need to have the details from all the pilot programs first.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So do I understand correctly, then,  Mr. Cowan, that in a classic LRAM you would bake into your rates an assumption as to how much your own C&DM programs would drive down load; right?
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the problem with implementing it this year is that you don't have a number for that, you don't have a baseline for what you’re driving load down; you only have an assumption for overall C&DM.
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know of a way of splitting it up between what you cause and what's going to happen anyway.
     MR. COWAN:  Not at this stage, no.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.   

Madam Chair, those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Before we proceed with Mr. White, maybe I can ask   Mr. White and the other intervenors to give me a sense of how long you think your cross will take.
     MR. WHITE:  When I first started, I thought about a half an hour. It seems to be taking substantially longer than I would have expected, so I may well run an hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's go with that for the moment.
     Mr. DeVellis?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I actually have about ten minutes or so.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.
     Mr. Poch, are you going to cross?
     MR. POCH:  Yes.  About 20 minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren?
     MR. WARREN:  Fifteen minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. MacIntosh?
     MR. MACINTOSH:  Between five and ten minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Shepherd actually did raise some interesting areas.  But he not only opened the door; he closed the ones I needed closed.  So I will have no questions of this panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.
     Ms. Lea?
     MS. LEA:  About 15 minutes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I will try to hold you to those estimates, if possible.
     Mr. White, we plan to break for lunch at 12.30.  Will that interrupt your examination too much or would you like us to flow through to 1:00?
     MR. WHITE:  Either we will all be incredibly lucky, in which case I'll be done in half an hour and we can go for a good lunch, or I'll look for a convenient break in my questioning around the 12.30 time point, if that works.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Even if you think it's going to be 45 minutes, we will press on rather than break up your cross.
     MR. WHITE:  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.
     MR. ROGERS:  I'll just move over, Madam Chair, so the witnesses can see Mr. White.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WHITE:
     MR. WHITE:  For the Panel, I'm Roger White and I represent a coalition of some seven electric distributors for the purpose of this hearing and my areas of most significant interest fall in the normalization aspect of the load forecast.  And for that reason, I think I'll start with Mr. But.  And if others feel I'm entering into their area, please interrupt and we'll try and move on as expeditiously as possible.
     The weather normalization model, Mr. But, I understand -- and I'm going to stay probably, I hope, at the 90,000-foot level rather than getting into the details of each individual -- huge details of individual numbers.  The weather normalization model, is it -- was it initially a demand model and then load factors being rolled into it, or was it initially an energy model?


MR. BUT:  Initially it was an energy model, because ‑‑ but in a way, the energy is the same as demand, because we analyze the information even using our information.  And in that sense, you can say that they are the same, because energy on the hour is kW, as you know, Mr. White.


MR. WHITE:  Okay.  The two specific numbers that    Mr. Shepherd pursued were the ‑‑ that are of interest to me were the 41,489 and the 39,165, which I understood to be the purchases from the IEMO and the sales to customers.


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. WHITE:  The sales to customers is the actual metered sales to the customers?


MR. BUT:  That is the amount we bill our customer, so we have different billing cycle as well compared to the purchase data we bought through IESO.


MR. WHITE:  So the difference would be the time difference and the accruals that would be necessary for opening and closing accruals?


MR. BUT:  Exactly.  So that is also an important variable that needs to be considered, yes.


MR. WHITE:  And by “billed to the customers,” you mean billed as distribution commodity as opposed to energy commodity, which -- energy commodity that you bill customers includes the uplift for losses, so this would be before the uplift for losses?


MR. BUT:  I think the bill includes the uplift of the ‑‑ it includes the uplift charges.


MR. WHITE:  The 39,165, that includes the uplift for losses?


MR. BUT:  Right.  That's correct.


MR. WHITE:  That's interesting.  From your answers to Mr. Shepherd, I understand that the model operates on a monthly basis?


MR. BUT:  Are you referring to ‑‑ what are you referring to?  Are you referring to the ‑‑


MR. WHITE:  Weather normalization.


MR. BUT:  Weather normalization?


MR. WHITE:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  When we do weather normalization, we use our information, as I stated in our evidence, in several evidence.  For example, in the ‑‑ we provided a detailed methodology document in response to H3‑13 A.  We have an attachment that talks about the details of the methodology that we use for weather correction.


MR. WHITE:  Okay.  And you ‑‑ what do you actually use for degree days for heating versus degree days for summer?  What do you consider to be the summer and winter periods?


MR. BUT:  The winter period is -- in our case, would be the four months, December, January, February and March.  That is basically the ‑ sorry, that is a three‑month period, December, January, February.  That is basically the traditional winter months.  And by the same token, the traditional definition of the summer months is the June, July, and August.  However, since we analyzed the information on an hourly basis, on a daily basis, and then on a monthly basis, there will be cooling law required in other months other than the three months I just mentioned.  


By the same token, there will be heating requirement in other months that I just mentioned.


MR. WHITE:  Okay.  So that ‑‑


MR. BUT:  Basically, what I'm trying to say is the heating and cooling degree days are not necessarily restricted just to the three months for the summer and the three months for winter.  It's basically every month there will be cooling and heating requirements.


MR. WHITE:  And there might be some months where you would have both heating and cooling?


MR. BUT:  Exactly, yes.  


MR. WHITE:  Based on the ambient temperatures in --


MR. BUT:  Exactly.  Any difference from the 18 degrees C in the evenings.  Your heat may be on in the afternoon; you may have air‑conditioning.


MR. WHITE:  Is there a dead ban range when there's considered to be neither heating nor cooling happening, from an ambient temperature perspective as opposed to the end user's temperature?


MR. BUT:  We did the analysis using an hourly information, and, therefore, the hourly information will basically define the heating and cooling days, as we discussed.


MR. WHITE:  And when does a heating day become a heating day?  What does the ambient temperature for a given hour have to be before it would call for heating?  Would that be the 18 degrees?


MR. BUT:  The definition is ‑‑ of the heating degree is any degree of -- 


MR. WHITE:  And what would the ambient temperature that would be required to call for cooling?


MR. BUT:  For cooling, it will be above the 18, while heating is below the 18.


MR. WHITE:  Thank you.  Based on your experience, do all customer classes have the same expected level of weather sensitivity?


MR. BUT:  Different classes would have very different weather correction requirements.  For example, it will be basically different by to what extent this particular customer class used the heating equipment, as well as the cooling requirement.  For the industrial customers, we traditionally assume that they do not have any weather correction requirements, because the industrial production will not be affected by the temperature.


MR. WHITE:  Thank you.  When you determine the degree days for Ontario Hydro's system, how do you use the fact that there are different temperatures at different geographical locations in the province?  How do you slice and dice the data to tie into the fact that the geography has different weather characteristics?


MR. BUT:  In Hydro One Networks' analysis, we use the Toronto Pearson International Airport for analysis, and based on our experience we found that that is a good summary, an average to represent the rest of the ‑‑


MR. WHITE:  It takes into account the warm Windsor area and the colder northern areas?


MR. BUT:  Exactly.


MR. WHITE:  Thank you.  How do you make adjustments in the weather normalization modelling for such things as spot electric space heating or spot central air‑conditioning increased penetration?  And what I'm trying to get at is as the price for energy increases, people may be making reductions in the general temperature in their living accommodation but may still try and retain, say, a slightly higher temperature in areas of primary use or, likewise, in the summer, slightly lower areas of -- lower temperature requirement for air‑conditioning.  How does the modelling capture those kind of technological changes?


MR. BUT:  When we ‑‑ as we documented in our pre-filed evidence in A14‑3, as well as provided in the detailed document of ‑‑ in response to H3‑13 in attachment A, in those documents we basically explain that we -- in summary, we use an hourly information of the energy and try to do statistical analysis with the – weather variables on an hourly basis.  That is basically the fundamental equation that we use, to do the statistical analysis of the last four years, using the last four years, our information, and then do the analysis with the weather variables.
     MR. WHITE:  That assumes -- do I understand correctly how the model works, that that would basically assume that the kind of situation that I'm describing would have to happen universally or is not considered at all?  I don't -- I'm sorry.  I can't understand from your answer how you consider it.
     MR. BUT:  We analyze the information for the total.  Therefore, we do not analyze in a specific 

equipment-by-equipment basis.  That's the reason why when I answered to you earlier we answer the information in total rather than looking at specific equipment.
     MR. WHITE:  Thank you.  Are there ways that you consider shorter-term weather trends in putting the model together rather than the complete 30-year period?
     MR. BUT:  Currently Hydro One uses 30 years in terms of defining what is the average weather.  This definition that we use is consistent with all IESO is using right now and is also consistent with what Environment Canada is using.  When Environment Canada defines weather normal, they're using 30 years to define weather normal.  

With respect to Mr. White's question whether we have looked at using five years or ten years, actually we have done the analysis.  If we use the five years weather averages, the impact on Hydro One load incrementally is only a difference of about 11 gigawatt hours, which is 0.05 percent, really insignificant.
     But whether or not it's 0.05 percent or not is developing in the sense that it's important to use the right methodology.  We do believe that five years is too short a time frame in terms of getting an average and 30 years is a better methodology.
     MR. WHITE:  What is it that you need most in terms of the 30-year period?  Is it temperature data?  Because you seem to be making adjustments for different efficiencies and appliances and different construction standards.  Is it the actual temperatures that you need 30-year data for?
     MR. BUT:  When we do the analysis as we documented in the evidence provided in H3-13 A, we use several weather variables in the analysis: temperature, humidity, wind speed, and cloud cover.  Those are the four major variables that we use in our analysis.
     MR. WHITE:  So you believe that a 30-year average number for those key components is a better number than something over a more recent period; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  In our analysis, I think that is not correct.  In our analysis, we did take the latest customer equipment mix into consideration because in finding the relationship between the low and weather variables, we used the last four years of information to do the statistical analysis.  That's basically taking into consideration the latest equipment changes.  But when we go back to the weather variables, I think it is inappropriate to use five years because it is very -- we cannot say the last five years is a better representative in terms of weather variables.  

For example, take 2002 and 2003.  We had a really hot summer.  Then I would say 2004 should be very hot.  But on the contrary, in reality, 2004 is a very cool summer.  By the same token, if you say that in -- because of the global warming effects, we should have warmer winters and look at 2004.  We have very cold winters.  And today, I don't have to tell you it's very warm.  

So what I'm trying to say:  On a year-to-year basis it's very difficult, if not impossible, to say that the same thing will occur in the future.  And the best would be go for some averages, and in this case we follow the Environment Canada definition and we follow the IESO definition as well in terms of consistency, in terms of using 30 years of weather normalization procedures.
     MR. WHITE:  My question related to the temperature component as opposed to the technology component.  So you're saying from a temperature component, 30 years is what you need to produce the best baseline temperature data; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MR. WHITE:  From that, can I assume that you don't place a lot of stock in the fact that global warming will have any impact on the Ontario climate?
     MR. BUT:  No, I did not say that.  Understanding global warming, we are talking about changes in one degree C in many, many years.  The rate case, the test year we're talking about is 2006.  So from that point of view, the global warming trend, what will happen 30, 100 years from now, is not that important.
     MR. WHITE:  You said 1 centigrade degree and then you said many, many years.  Will you tell us what you mean by many, many years?
     MR. BUT:  I'm not an expert in climate, but based on what I'm reading and that global warming trend is happening in the next 30, 100 years.
     MR. WHITE:  It would take 30 years to produce a 1-degree change. Is that what your expectation would be, then, based on your understanding of what we generally hear talked about as global warming?
     MR. BUT:  I'm not an expert in climate, so I cannot comment on that.
     MR. WHITE:  But earlier you said that 1 degree occurred over many, many years.  That's got some expectation around it.  I'd just like to understand where you're going with that.
     MR. ROGERS:  What difference does it make, as interesting as this topic is, for the purpose of this 2006 rate case, what's going to happen with global warming in the future?
     MR. WHITE:  If it's five years, it's quite different.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. White, I think you have your answer.  You know how the analysis was done; is that correct?  Is there further information you want on how the analysis was done?  I'm not trying to shut you down, Mr. White.  I just don't want to have to ask the same question several times.
     MR. WHITE:  I would have been really comfortable had the witness not in evidence stated that it would take a huge number of years, many, many years, to achieve a 1-degree Celsius ambient temperature change.
     MS. NOWINA:  You could ask him to respond to that again if you like.
     MR. ROGERS:  I’m not sure he’s said that.  What he has said that I'm pretty sure about is that they use 30 years, which presumably will capture any global warming that's occurred over the past 30 years.
     MS. NOWINA:  I think Mr. White can have the witness clarify that one statement.
     MR. WHITE:  An average would capture -- the average over 30 years, which would capture what it would have been 15 years ago if you had a linear relationship.
     MR. ROGERS:  We're talking about rates for 2006, and the last time I looked this is 2006.  But, Mr. But, if I may, I think Mr. White was concerned because he thinks you said in your estimation it's going to take 30 or 100 years for a 1-degree change in term through global warming.  Can you just address that for us?
     MR. BUT:  What I'm trying to say is you asked about whether the global warming trend would have an indication in terms of the weather normalization procedures.   

Mr. White, what I'm trying to say is based on the weather patterns that we experience in the last few years.  I just cite an example:  There is no certainty with respect to being warm or cold; in particular, summer and winter.  So this is effectively a random effect.  And therefore, it is appropriate to use the 30 years’ averages to do the weather normalizations.
     MR. WHITE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll live with that.  We can move on.
     Weather normalization software is not, I understand, is not an Ontario Hydro-designed piece of software.  Is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  No, that is not correct.  The weather correction method that we use was originated from the Ontario Hydro days.  As a matter of fact, it was designed by staff in Ontario Hydro.  And we continue to use that same methodology in Hydro One.
     MR. WHITE:  And there was no external source for a weather component of that type of analysis?
     MR. BUT:  Based on my best knowledge, very few people in the province would offer weather correction type of analysis services and that is the reason why we are considered the expert in this area.
     MR. WHITE:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, thank you, Panel, and thank you, Mr. But.  I really appreciate your frank answers and concise answers.  I'm back to my half-hour schedule.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. White.  We will break for lunch and we will return at 1.30.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1.35 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Poch, were you going to go next?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, my cross‑examination with respect to the LRAM issue I've already indicated will be the line of questions.  

I assume, Mr. Cowan, most of these questions are for you, but if other members of the panel have anything to add, feel free.


First of all, I understand that your load forecast includes an estimate of CDM program impacts in 2006, particularly that aspect of CDM that has load-reducing effects, and that it is 351 gigawatt hours comprised of 190 ‑‑ an estimate of 194 gigawatt hours of reduced load amongst your customers and 157 amongst your embedded ‑‑ the embedded utilities you provide service for; is that correct?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  And I take it that's appropriate, in your view, because if you did not do so, CDM would erode your revenue.  If you didn't include a forecast of it, it would ‑‑ the fact would be that any CDM that arose would erode your forecast.  It would erode your revenue in the rate year?


MR. COWAN:  Any CDM estimate is going to reduce the load, and, therefore, when we come to recovering rates, it would impact the rate-recovery mechanism and revenue efficiency.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  And I take it you'd agree that it would be inappropriate for the company to be penalized for achieving CDM; is that fair?


MR. COWAN:  That's fair.


MR. POCH:  And would you also agree that the company should not be rewarded for poor CDM performance?


MR. COWAN:  That's fair.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, in fact, as it stands, you don't have a lost revenue adjustment mechanism, so is it not the case that you do indeed face a penalty - that is, lost revenue - if you do a good job on CDM and you perform well?


MR. COWAN:  And we'd look at that as just a normal forecast risk in the forecast, and there's ups and there's downs and it’s just one more element of forecast risk.


MR. POCH:  The effect, though, is if you do particularly well, that will erode your revenue?


MR. COWAN:  If we do better than forecast, our revenue will be less than forecast.


MR. POCH:  And if you do poorer than forecast, your revenue ‑‑ all else being equal, your revenue will be enhanced?


MR. COWAN:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And if we had a lost revenue adjustment mechanism, a variance account, if you under-achieved on CDM, the added revenue you obtained would be returned to the customers?


MR. COWAN:  If it were measurable.


MR. POCH:  Fine.  And, alternatively, if you over-achieved on CDM, you, the company, would be saved harmless from the revenue erosion that would otherwise occur?


MR. COWAN:  Again, if it were measurable.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And in terms of the estimate of CDM, you've provided a response to Board Staff that's already been referred to today, at H, tab 1, schedule 25.  Can you just turn that up?  It's the only IR I'll be referring to.


MR. COWAN:  Mr. But and I have that.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And this interrogatory response indicates how the 194-gigawatt-hour forecast was obtained.  Just before we proceed any further, I take it that the other 157 was obtained in a similar fashion?


MR. BUT:  Yes, and that ‑‑ the CDM impact for the other embedded customers, the detailed calculation is provided in H2, tab 32.


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  I just want to add that, for perspective, the 194 with .8 per cent or so for the test year 2006 and for both Hydro One Networks and the embedded customers.  So that is a reference point that I want to draw your attention to.  

And when I did the analysis for the submissions, at that time OPA was still in the process of determining what to do.  And in the most recent report, the supply mix report, and, in particular, in one of their reference cases used for the forecast in terms of determining what energy efficiency program they would expect for 2006, which is the same test year we're talking about, I want to draw your attention to the fact that OPA currently for planning purposes, the base reference year assuming .8, as well, which is similar to what Hydro One assumes.  I therefore say the estimate we have is reasonable compared to what OPA has submitted.


MR. POCH:  Just pausing there, Mr. But, I understand that the OPA ‑‑ is your understanding the same as mine that the OPA's forecast was the lowest of the various conservation forecasts their advisors gave them, and they've indicated they're open to more but they ‑‑


MR. BUT:  Yes.  The .8 per cent, therefore, should be considered very conservative.  It could be more.


MR. POCH:  It could be more?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  That's right.  All right.  So turning to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 25, let's just make sure I understand what you've done here correctly.  You've simply taken the 5 per cent peak‑load reduction by 2007 government minimum target; correct?


MR. BUT:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. POCH:  And you've allocated that as between customer load reduction efforts and other efforts, such as loss reduction and demand management, which wouldn't affect energy particularly, first of all?


MR. BUT:  Basically, what I did was I assigned about 55 per cent, about half, slightly more than half, to demand management program, which has no implication on energy, and the rest, energy efficient type of program, which has implication on energy.


MR. POCH:  And then you've simply taken that number and done your utility's pro rata share of --


MR. BUT:  Right.  Then with that number, I continue my analysis by using Hydro One's share of the provincial average to determine how much Hydro One would be expecting.


MR. POCH:  And then you've converted that to energy by simply using the average load factor?


MR. BUT:  Exactly.


MR. POCH:  So it's fair to say this is a very, very high ‑‑ before I even ask that question:  And you've taken that target for 2007 and simply split it in half as between 2006 and 2007? 


MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. POCH:  And you've assumed nothing much has happened in 2005 that's going to ‑‑ within the margins of error?


MR. BUT:  Agreed, because it takes time to ramp up the programs.


MR. POCH:  So back to my question, this is a very, very high‑level estimate of CDM impacts?


MR. BUT:  Agreed.  This is an estimate that we believe would be appropriate for use in our CDM reductions.


MR. POCH:  Now, at the end of your fiscal year, of each fiscal year, you're aware that the Board has obliged the utility to file reports on its CDM programs, evaluations thereof, including peak and energy impacts; is that correct?  Is my understanding the same as yours?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So if we were to have an LRAM, we could clear it on the basis of those reports, could we not?


MR. COWAN:  Once all the mechanisms and standards and everything are in place, in theory, yes, we could have an LRAM.


MR. POCH:  Well, the Board has already determined that you're going to have to file those numbers, so presumably there will be mechanisms to ‑‑ for the basis of those numbers; correct, Mr. Cowan?  Independent of whether there's an LRAM, you're going to have to file some estimate of those numbers?


MR. COWAN:  Once those numbers from the pile‑up programs are available, they'll be evaluated to assess any new CDM programs, and any new CDM programs will definitely have to be filed.  My understanding from the 39.5 is that they did not have to be a total resource cost on those CDM.
     MR. POCH:  I think we're talking at cross purposes.  I'm not talking about what filings you have to do up front to justify those programs.  You're quite correct that there was a different standard applied at the outset than there will be in subsequent periods.  But the reporting after each fiscal period has already been mandated by the Board, and you will be providing estimates, good or bad, estimates of the load impacts of those various programs; correct?
     MR. COWAN:  I know there is a filing requirement with the Board and the sheets do have energy impact columns in there.  So yes, I am aware there is a requirement to do that.
     MR. POCH:  So if the Board were satisfied that that estimate used to clear the LRAM, there would be no added work in having an LRAM apart from having to keep the account.
     MR. COWAN:  The problem we have is we clearly identify at this stage of the game, as was discussed in December 22nd of CLD, it's very difficult at this point in time, 2006, to quantify the impacts of the pilot programs.  That's where we have a little dilemma with trying to think that we should have an LRAM for 2006.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Cowan, I'm certainly going to agree with you that where we sit today, it would be very difficult to have a good estimate of the load impacts and perhaps we can do better than the high level you've done.  But in any event, let's not -- we don't need to disagree.  It would be difficult.  But I'm not talking about now.  I'm talking about at the end of the period, when you've done your evaluation work, presumably the estimate you will file then, it will be more accurate, would it not?
     MR. COWAN:  It would be a best estimate once all the data is available.
     MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  And there's no reason, is there, that we couldn't use that to clear an LRAM?
     MR. COWAN:  Well, LRAM, you should have identified up front what your forecast parameters are.  We don't have that.
     MR. POCH:  Why do you have to have identified up front what your forecast parameters are?
     MR. COWAN:  Participation rates.  If you're going to identify what an impact of a program is, you should have identified what you think you're going to forecast versus what you actually achieve.
     MR. POCH:  I understand certainly if we were going to have something like a pivot-point-based incentive you would need that, but for an LRAM, let me make sure we’re talking about the same thing here.  I'm proposing an estimate where you build in your best estimate now into your load forecast, as you've already done; correct?
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.
     MR. POCH:  And it can be on whatever basis it's made.  And then on a subsequent date, based on the best available information at that time, you simply compare the two estimates and true-up for the difference.  Why would you have to know anything in advance about particular programs, program design, participation rates, indeed any details at all?
     MR. COWAN:  I don't know how you can quantify a specific Hydro One program until you've got the participation rate measured.
     MR. POCH:  Certainly after the period, you would have that information and you would do it at that time; correct?
     MR. COWAN:  Yes, after the period.
     MR. POCH:  Why do you need to quantify it in advance to set up an LRAM account?
     MR. COWAN:  I'm thinking of it in terms of to quantify the expected results versus actual results.  It's nice to know what you're going in with a forecast on and what you're comparing it to.  Again, looking at specific Hydro One, this 194 includes not only Hydro One's estimate of conservation; it also includes estimates from whatever programs the OPA will introduce, whatever estimates the federal government may do, and of course the whole issue of free riders, what are they doing.  And that's all reflected in the 194 estimate Mr. But has.  It's very difficult at this stage to try to clearly say this is going to be attributable to a Hydro One program, which is the basis of an LRAM.  That's what I'm struggling with.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Cowan, no matter how good or bad your estimate may be that you build into Hydro One's CDM efforts - and perhaps you don't even build in an estimate - you've already agreed with me that to the extent you vary from whatever is in that load forecast, if you exceed it, you're going to be -- your revenue’s eroded.  If you don't achieve, you’re being, if you will, unfairly rewarded.  Why wouldn't we want to true-up for that after the fact?  Put it another way:  What benefit is there in maintaining an incentive for the utility to do poorly on CDM?
     MR. COWAN:  They prefer to look at it as a forecast risk.  It's just part of your normal forecast for revenues.  It's one more element that should be in a forecast.  You don't need another monitoring mechanism to measure results.
     MR. POCH:  Well, Mr. Cowan, I'm proposing that you don't have another monitoring mechanism; we simply use the estimates you're already obliged to file with the Board at the end of the day.  And given that, is there any reason not to go this route that you're aware of?
     MR. COWAN:  The Board chooses, given the -- what I'll call the susceptibility of the data at this point in time, if they so choose to rule that an LRAM should be in place, we would live with that.  As I've said before, I think it's premature that they should look at all the implications in a generic hearing of an LRAM and a mechanism before one is put in place.  You can put one in place for probably 2007, 2008, after thorough examination of all the issues respecting an LRAM.  That's when it should be considered by the Board.
     MR. POCH:  Would you agree that, in general, if you're going to have an LRAM, it would be more valuable, both to the company, potentially to the company and to the customers, to have it when the uncertainty about CDM results is higher?
     MR. COWAN:  The problem is the expense involved in tracking.
     MR. POCH:  I'm going to ask you one more time.  What additional expense do you foresee in tracking for the purposes of this account, assuming you simply use the same numbers you're going to file in front of the Board that you're already obliged to file as part of your CDM approval?
     MR. COWAN:  If you're just filing the minimum requirements by the Board, then it would not be a major additional effort.  My concern, as I say, is to do it right, I think you've got to look at all inputs.
     MR. POCH:  Even if we don’t get it perfectly, 

Mr. Cowan, wouldn't you agree that any estimate made after the fact based on the evaluation you do, you're going to make your best efforts to evaluate within the constraints you face and any numbers you have at that time are going to be far superior to the very high-level guesstimate that we have before us today?
     MR. COWAN:  I do not consider what we have before us today a high-level guesstimate.  I think it's certainly the government target.  It's been reinforced by the OPA in their recent report.  So I take exception to the word 

“high-level guesstimate.”
     MR. POCH:  All right.  Would you prefer “high-level estimate”?  I think you agreed to that earlier.
     MR. COWAN:  It's a “top-down estimate” I will agree with.
     MR. POCH:  Back to my question, then:  However savvy you get at evaluation over the next year, whatever number you have after the fact, based on actual participation counts and so on, it's going to be a lot more accurate than that estimate; correct?
     MR. COWAN:  The part we've got that we don't know right now obviously is of the 194, how much is attributable to a Hydro One program; correct?  Therefore, what are you comparing an LRAM on actual results to?  

Like, let's say the 194 -- let's just say for example purposes that 10 percent is from a Hydro One program; right?  So that would be 19.  Your LRAM would be measuring against a 19 base.  We don't know what that base is.  That's the problem I'm having with trying to agree with an LRAM when we don't know how much of a Hydro One contribution will be to the 194 base.  That's the basic struggle I've got, Mr. Poch.
     MR. POCH:  One final question, Mr. Cowan.  On whatever basis you've estimated the 194, a year from now, after the benefit of doing whatever evaluations you have and the benefit of whatever your load forecasters can tell you and the benefit of whatever evaluations the conservation bureau or others may have made, you're going to be in a better position to understand what the number in reality was.


MR. COWAN:  We will be better able to estimate what the impact of the Hydro One programs were to contribute towards the 194.  We have no way to measure what the OPA, federal government, or any free rider is at this stage of the game.  So that's the struggle I've got with what is the LRAM based on.


MR. POCH:  And you're telling me that right now, you have no basis to dis-aggregate the 194 as between what your own efforts are going to do and what others are going to do?


MR. COWAN:  That's exactly what I'm saying.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, can I ask you a question, just so I'm clear on what you were questioning about?  So do you envision the base of this forecast being the 194 or an estimate of Hydro One's contribution to the 194?


MR. POCH:  I was going to ponder that, but off the top of my head I think the simplest way to go, if we were to have an LRAM at this time, would be to capture the whole 194, and then true-up to whatever the total is later.  It could be done either way.  It could even be done at the company's option either way, whatever they felt more comfortable with.  


It strikes me that the accuracy of the current forecast is not the issue so much as the variance once we have an actual.  But ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sure you'll give us more in your submission.


MR. POCH:  I'm going to get some advice on what would be the best way to go in that situation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  I'll leave it there.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. DeVellis.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Good afternoon, Panel.  Most of the areas I was going to cover have already been covered.  I just have a couple of clarification points.  Just staying on the issue of the 194-gigawatt CDM reduction, I understand from Board Staff IR No. 25 - that's Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 25 - how that number was derived, and I take it, then, that the 194 is not ‑‑ is a combination of Hydro One's C&DM activities and provincial activities or programs.  Is it possible for you to estimate what that reduction would be using only Hydro One's C&DM program?


MR. BUT:  Not at this point in time.  We had done a number of pilot projects.  We are in the process of assessing the results, and so we will be launching programs, if you will, in the very near future.  And so, therefore, at this point in time, particularly when we make the submissions, we are still not in a position to provide any further detailed breakdown.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So at this point, your 2006 C&DM program, you don't have a target reduction for it?


MR. COWAN:  Not for Hydro One specifically, no.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you anticipate having a number like that by the end of the hearing?


MR. COWAN:  No, we did not.  As I say, we ‑‑ the CDM programs that have been approved go through 2007.  They are pilot programs.  All the data coming in from that is going to be used to establish what the going-forward CDM programs at Hydro One will be.  Once all that data is in place, then we'll be able to quantify a specific Hydro One CDM impact number.  But certainly not by the end of this hearing, no.
MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And do you have any idea as to the status of the government program for 2006 as to what contribution they would make?


MR. COWAN:  We can't quantify it, no.


MR. BUT:  In the generic hearings, I heard that OPA will be consulting the LDCs with respect to joint effort in this area, but at this point in time I don't think I have any further details to provide, except to say that the OPA does have 450 megawatts of directives decided already and, in addition, they are -- in the latest supply mix report, they are estimating that in addition they are also planning to get .8 per cent of CDM reduction from the 2006 load, which is the number that Hydro One also has.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the other question I had was if you could turn ‑‑ if you use Board Staff IR No. 25, you use a load for 2004 of 22,937 gigawatt hours.  Now, if you can turn to VECC IR No. 16.  That's Exhibit H, tab 5, schedule 16, page 2 of 2.


MR. ROGERS:  Fifteen or sixteen?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sixteen.  Now, we have ‑‑ well, first of all, can you tell me how you arrived at the 22,937?  Well, let me ask the question first, and then you can ...  

If we take the total from retail of 17,261 gigawatt hours, plus the acquired subtotal of 3,143, plus the embedded direct of 3,663 or 4, if you take it, subject to check, that that equals 24,868 gigawatt hours.  And my question is:  Can you help us reconcile those two numbers?


MR. COWAN:  I think we'll need those references again, where you're taking those numbers from, sir.  I'm having a hard time following where you're getting them from.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you take the retail subtotal on page 2 of 2.


MS. NOWINA:  Of Exhibit H, tab 5, schedule 16.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sixteen.


MR. COWAN:  Oh, H5.  Okay.  That number, the 17,336, you're referring to?


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's 17,261 gigawatt hours.  That's the subtotal for retail.  If you add the subtotal for acquired; it's 3,143 gigawatt hours.


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the ‑‑ well, the total for embedded directs, 3,364.


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Will you take, subject to check, that that is 24,868?


MR. BUT:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And my question, if you can help us reconcile that number with the 22,937 that you used in Board Staff IR No. 25.


MR. BUT:  The 22,937 pertains to Hydro One Networks only and does not include the embedded customers.  And embedded customer calculation is provided in Exhibit H2-32.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  What is the number, H2-32?


MR. BUT:  H2, tab 32.  And on page 2, you will see that that number for the embedded customer is supplied to 18,716 gigawatt hours on line 10. 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Are you saying that explains the difference between the 24868 and 22937?
     MR. BUT:  24867 is at the purchase level.  The reference that you used earlier, that is at the sales level.  I wanted to take this opportunity to clarify the difference between the purchase and the sales.  The purchase is the amount that Hydro One buys from IMO on behalf of our customers, while the sales number, as reported, as you just referenced, is the amount that shows up in our customer-billing systems, and that is at the end-user level.  And the difference -- the difference would be the loss, distribution loss, and different -- due to billing cycle, for example.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I thought that they were both the sales number, the 24867, and the number given in VECC IR number 16 is also a sales number.
     MR. BUT:  The number quoted in H1-26 and H5-16, they are all at the sales level, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  So how do you explain the difference, then?
     MR. BUT:  But the answer to response to H1-25 and 

H2-32, that analysis was done at the purchase level.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.
     Mr. Warren.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Panel.  I have questions in two areas.  The first is very brief and it's the LRAM question, for you, Mr. Cowan.  

Your position, I take it, Mr. Cowan, is for the reasons you have expressed, you don't believe that it would be appropriate for Hydro One Networks to have an LRAM for this fiscal year; is that correct?
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Am I right in assuming, Mr. Cowan, that in the absence of an LRAM, even in the absence of an LRAM, Hydro One intends to pursue its CDM programs energetically and in good faith; is that correct?
     MR. COWAN:  Oh, most definitely.
     MR. WARREN:  Can we agree or am I right in assuming, Mr. Cowan, that one of the risks of an LRAM that is imprecisely calculated is that ratepayers may end up paying for something which Hydro One didn't deliver?  Is that one of the risks?
     MR. COWAN:  That's one definite risk, yes.
     MR. WARREN:  Panel, can I then turn to the second of the two topics, and that is the topic of external revenue sources.  And I believe that that may be your area of expertise; is that fair?
     MR. VANCE:  I think so, yes.
     MR. WARREN:  I didn't want you to think you were unloved, sir.  

In answer to my questions, it would assist if you would turn up two documents, please.  In your pre-filed evidence, could you turn up – your pre-filed evidence is Exhibit E3, tab 1, schedule 1.  And I'm going to be making reference to tables 1, 2, and 6.  And in addition, if you could turn up an interrogatory response to my client, Consumers Council of Canada, Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 5, the Council’s interrogatory number 5.  Do you have those documents?
     MR. VANCE:  I do.
     MR. WARREN:  First of all, am I right in understanding that tables 1 and 2 represent the actual revenues, external revenues, from both regulated and unregulated sources?  Is that correct?
     MR. VANCE:  That's correct for up to 2004.
     MR. WARREN:  2005 is an estimate; is that right?
     MR. VANCE:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the figures which appear on Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 5, those are budget numbers as opposed to actual numbers; is that correct?
     MR. VANCE:  Budget forecasts, that's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Now, I'd like to look at a comparison, if I can, of budget to actual.  And can we agree, at a high level of generality, that with the exception of 2003 that the pattern revealed in these documents is that Hydro One Networks has underestimated its external revenue?  Is that a fair summary?
     MR. VANCE:  This is just strictly a forecast.  The interrogatory.  The actuals are actually higher.
     MR. WARREN:  That's right.  You forecast -- you actually covered more than you forecast; correct?
     MR. VANCE:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me:  How is it that you account for that additional – that’s an unfair modifier.  How is it that you account for the excess of actuals 

over --
     MR. VANCE:  Over forecast.
     MR. WARREN:  Over forecast.
     MR. VANCE:  One is through joint use, specifically Bell Canada.  We've negotiated a new agreement starting in January 2006 which represents about -- it represents $800,000 a year increase in external revenue.
     MR. WARREN:  Can I look at one of these categories, and one of the categories is other external work, unregulated category, other external work.  And looking at Exhibit 5 - sorry - the interrogatory response 5, other external work, emergency support in 2004.  Your forecast was $1.0 million; correct?
     MR. VANCE:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  And your actual was, going back to table 2, was $23.3 million.
     MR. VANCE:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  The difference, the some $22 million difference, represents the revenue you obtained from providing emergency services to the state of Florida; is that correct?
     MR. VANCE:  Correct.
     MR. WARREN:  And please correct me if this is an unfair characterization of it, but that $22 million was in essence a windfall for Hydro One Networks; fair?
     MR. VANCE:  No.  We collect our costs when we go down to Florida, but also when we have our staff go to Florida or to help other utilities in emergencies.  The people who are left behind to keep up with the work, our normal work, they have to work longer hours; we may have to bring in other outside utilities so we can continue to do our normal work.
     MR. WARREN:  And that observation is nowhere reflected in the evidence, which isn't a criticism.  But in order for me to understand the true impact of the $22 million in apparent excess of revenue, a over-forecast, I would have to deduct from that the additional costs of supplanting or replacing the people who went south; is that fair?
     MR. VANCE:  That's fair.
     MR. WARREN:  And do you have or can you get me an estimate of what that amount is?
     MR. VANCE:  I don't have that amount.
     MR. WARREN:  Is it tracked anywhere, sir?
     MR. VANCE:  I don't believe it is, to the degree that you would want it.  We know that it costs us more money to bring in other people, pay our staff extra, but we don't track it specifically.
     MR. WARREN:  Knowing that both of us, you and I, don't want to have an imprecise number, can you give me anything that you believe is a precise estimate of the replacement cost?
     MR. VANCE:  No, I can't.
     MR. WARREN:  Would Hydro One -- and is this kind of emergency support something which Hydro One is -- this is a slightly ghoulish observation, because we're not enthusiastic about hurricanes anywhere, but is it a service that Hydro One is promoting to other utilities, its availability in emergency circumstances?
     MR. VANCE:  Well, Hydro One belongs, along with many other utilities, to the North America mutual assistance group and therefore, when called upon, we would offer our assistance whenever we could, depending on where we are with our own staff, how many people we have available, et cetera, et cetera.  There's many variables.  If called upon, we would offer our assistance.

MR. WARREN:  Would Hydro One have any objection for this category of external revenue, which is the emergency support, to putting this in a deferral account so that, for example, if we were to have a repeat of the 2004 circumstance with the additional revenue, 22 million, that that could be returned or some portion of it could be returned to the ratepayers?  Do you have any objection?


MR. ROGERS:  This is a policy question, Madam Chair.  Can I take that under advisement and let my friend know?  I don't know if this witness is really -- I am not sure that he is -- he can express the opinion of the company.  I view this type of thing like handling an insurance policy.  There's a cost to it.  But it works both ways.  When the ice storm happened, they got help from other people.  I will take that under advisement, if I could, and let the Board know what the position is.  


I suspect, knowing utilities are adverse to variation accounts, I think I know the answer, but I'll check.


MR. WARREN:  I'm happy to wait for a more fulsome "no,” Madam Chair, but --


MS. NOWINA:  Do we need an undertaking, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, please.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Could you then just rephrase it?


MR. ROGERS:  I think the undertaking was that we will check and I will advise the Board as to whether the company is prepared to accept the variance account to track external revenues and --


MR. WARREN:  External work in the emergency support category only.


MR. ROGERS:  And costs, too, I assume.  It works the other way?


MR. WARREN:  I assume we can agree that the answer will be more than just "no."  It will be "no" with reasons; is that fair?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And that will be undertaking J1.5.


UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  INFORM WHETHER COMPANY IS

PREPARED TO ACCEPT VARIANCE ACCOUNT TO TRACK EXTERNAL

WORK IN EMERGENCY SUPPORT CATEGORY.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, Panel, is with reference to table 6.  Now, table 6, as I understand it, provides the volumes in the category of other miscellaneous services for the year 2002 through 2006.  Am I correct in understanding what those figures are?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  And can you indicate to me, Panel, why the 2005 and 2006 numbers are, with one category of exception, the same?


MR. VANCE:  Well, 2006 is a forecast, and the 2005 is based on 2003 versus -- and 2004 and 2000 -- 2002 through 2004, just based on historic, divided by three.


MR. WARREN:  So these ‑‑


MR. VANCE:  -- and our forecast for 2005 and our expected forecast for 2006.


MR. WARREN:  So 2005 is an estimate and 2006 is a forecast; is that right?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


Mr. MacIntosh?  There you are.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MacINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I was exploring just one area, and it was exactly the area that Mr. Warren was asking questions on, Exhibit E3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3 of 13, concerning the other external work that generated some $20 million of revenue.  And my question to you is:  Assuming that there was probably roughly $20 million in costs to generate this revenue, how is the 20 million in costs being reflected in 2004 figures?


MR. VANCE:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Were the costs in 2004 OM&A the costs for doing the work in the southern US?


MR. VANCE:  Yes, they do get reflected in the OM&A.


MR. MACINTOSH:  So my question coming from that:  Wouldn't it ‑‑ to do a more accurate comparison of 2006 budgeted costs, wouldn't it be more accurate to remove that 20 million in costs from OM&A?


MR. VANCE:  What do you mean remove it?  It's not in there.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, we're trying to compare your 2006 budget to historic costs, and this is a cost which is out of the ordinary.


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And when we're trying to compare 2006 budgets to historical rates, we try and look at things that are the same.  And my suggestion to you is that would it not be ‑‑ give us a more accurate comparison if this was removed as an adjustment?


MR. VANCE:  It was not put in the 2006.


MR. MACINTOSH:  No.  It's in the 2004 and you're comparing the 2006 to it.  And it's an anomaly, I would say.  It might happen in 2015.


MR. VANCE:  And it may not.


MR. MACINTOSH:  And it may not.


MR. VANCE:  I'm not sure I understand where you're going.  Like, we put it in here because it's 2004.  It's an actual.  But the forecast for 2006 doesn't include it, because we don't ‑‑ like, we don't forecast this to happen all the time.  We can't forecast for it.  There's too many variables.


MR. MACINTOSH:  That's my ‑‑ those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Macintosh.


Before we proceed with Board counsel, have I missed any other intervenors who wish to examine this panel?


Ms. Lea?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  I'm Jennifer Lea with Board Staff and although Ms. Campbell will be counsel for this hearing, I'm sharing the cross‑examination duties with her.  

I have three topics to ask you about with respect to your duties here today, and the first relates generally to the forecast.  And in asking you these questions, you may wish to refer to three things:  Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 3; Board Staff IR No. 30, which is H1, schedule 30; and H3, schedule 13, which is a Schools IR 13.


In Board Staff Interrogatory No. 30, we asked you about the fact that much of the data used in the load forecast and also in the economic forecast is somewhat dated.  It's going back to 2004.  So this means that there was a forecast for all of 2005 as well as 2006.  And we suggested that using the most recent data available is usually what one does in preparing a load forecast.  


And in that interrogatory H1-30 you responded by saying that there have been no significant changes in the major assumptions that would impact the 2006 test year information and that any such changes would result in minimal impacts.  Have I understood your position correctly?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Have you ‑‑ can you tell me what quantitative analysis you have undertaken to support that statement?


MR. COWAN:  The 2006 test year forecast that's before the Board, this went to the Ontario ‑‑ the Hydro One board of directors in November of 2005 for approval, and, based on that, there was no reason -- when that was presented to the board, all the assumptions with respect the test year for 2006, we saw no reason to make a change and the board approved -- our Hydro One Board approved the 2006 as submitted.


MS. LEA:  Do I understand you to say, then, Mr. Cowan, that the desire of the company is to have consistency in this hearing with what was presented to your own Hydro One board and that that is the reason you don't think an update is appropriate?


MR. COWAN:  It's the latest information available, what we have for 2006.  It was reaffirmed to the board of directors in November, and the board of directors approved our 2006 budget.  And it's the same numbers that are before this Board for approval of the rates.


MS. LEA:  So you're not proposing to do an update of any kind with the more recent economic data that may be available from consensus forecasts and other such sources?


MR. COWAN:  No, we're not. 

     MS. LEA:  In your answer to the School’s IR number 13, H3-13, page 313, you provided some sensitivity analysis with respect to various variables that you used in deriving your forecast.  Have you considered -- and you consider those variables in isolation, as requested in the interrogatory.  Have you considered what the aggregate impact would be, for example, of a big slow-down in the economy or a large speed-up in some of these economic factors?  What would be the aggregate impact, and does that cause you concern for the accuracy of your forecast?
     MR. BUT:  In general, I just want to go back to the latest economic information.  For example, from the provincial government report released in November of last year, that, I believe, is perhaps the latest provincial government budget information.  And in that report, it talks about how the provincial government, Ontario government, sees the economy going.  

The consensus forecast in that report basically, if I recall, is for 2005, 2.2 percent; 2006, 2.6 per cent.  On average, 2.5 per cent for both years.  In our submission, we assume 2.1 percent for 2005, 2.9 percent for 2006; on average, we are talking about a difference of .1 percent.  So that is proof that although we use the information in early 2005 to prepare the forecast for the test year, the information we use at that time, using this GDP as an example, is still relevant.  The forecast assumption we assume is still appropriate.
     MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We could quote statistics at each other.  We had a look at the CIBC world markets consensus forecast, and they were predicting a GDP of under 2 percent in that consensus forecast.  But I gather, 

Mr. But, that a reduction in the economy suggests that you -– if the aim is to not make rates any higher, we would want to leave your forecast at 2.9 percent; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  I would assume that -- Hydro One in this case is assuming that the CIBC forecast is -- turned out to be correct.  We will have a major slow-down in economy in the range of 2 percent rather than 2.9 percent.  Yes, in this case Hydro One is taking the risk.
     MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can you tell me:  Have you filed in evidence - and I believe you have - some indication of what level of success you've had in the past in your forecasts?
     MR. BUT:  Yes.  I think we have filed that information in Exhibit A14-3, and in particular, we are talking about table 1.  And under A14-3, table 1, which is page 2, we have shown the forecast accuracy for the past many years.  And in particular, I want to draw your attention to line 26, which shows our forecast accuracy for the year 2002 to 2004, and this record of our forecasts attests to the fact that we are pretty accurate.  Because the forecast variance after weather correction in this case is almost perfect.
     MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  I'd like to turn to my second topic, which has to do with the proposal of an LRAM.  One clarification, Mr. But.  You indicated there had been a recent forecast from the Ontario Power Authority, the OPA, of 0.8 percent.  Do I understand that to have been a load reduction rather than a peak reduction?
     MR. BUT:  That is a reduction on energy, yes.  On energy, yes, which is directly relevant to the estimate we provided in terms of the 194.
     MS. LEA:  Yes, that's right.  I just wanted to make sure it was energy and not peak.
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MS. LEA:  Now, the interrogatories I'm going to be looking at for this area are Board Staff 25, H1-25.  You've already been referred to that.  And also H2-32, which is the CME interrogatory, page 232.  Mr. Cowan, you've indicated the company's position is that it is premature to set up an LRAM because we simply don't know what the success of CDM programs are going to be.  Do I understand you correctly?
     MR. COWAN:  It's premature at this stage because until we know what participation rates are, we can't -- an LRAM measures Hydro One's CDM programs.  Right now, we can't quantify how much of the 194 is -- will be attributable to the Hydro One programs, the 39.5 million that's been approved.  So therefore, what is the base you're trying to measure actual results against?  That's why I have a problem at this stage.  Once you've got something quantifiable where you can put in the forecast and say, let's say, maybe 60 of the 194 was related to the Hydro One programs, then you can put an LRAM in place because you've got something you can measure.  I'm just saying right now what are you measuring against?  You can come up with -- once all the results are in, you can come up with -- there's 15 or 20 or whatever, but how does that relate to the 194?  That's the difficulty with an LRAM.
     MS. LEA:  I was wondering if it might be preferable.
     MR. COWAN:  We think it's the best forecast, given all the assumptions that go into it, and the company is certainly happy to live with that forecast based on the best information we feel today.
     MS. LEA:  I just want to look at a couple of the details of that forecast.  First, at IR H2-32, for 2005, the CDM impact that was assumed there was 49 gigawatt hours for Hydro One and 39 gigawatt hours for the imbedded distributors; am I correct?
     MR. BUT:  That's correct.
     MS. LEA:  Do you have any information yet as to whether this was -– has been achieved or is likely to be achieved?
     MR. BUT:  We do not have any information yet, because, for example, in 2005, we have a number of programs, such as the Canadian Tire programs that we launch in October to December.  We have not got the counts of the -- in that particular case, for example, we promoted compact fluorescent lights, Christmas lights, LED lights, programmable thermostat timers and it would take some time for those accounting to come back.  So at this point in time we do not know how much uptake we have from our customers for that particular campaign.
     MS. LEA:  And do you have any information for the, say, the first six months of 2005, anything that can guide us as to what the level of success was?
     MR. BUT:  We do not have much specific information right now, because the program that we did in 2005 are primarily for the pilot projects.  For example, when we do load control of our customer, we believe it doesn't have a lot of energy impact.  When we do our realtime monitoring projects for the 500 customers, based on the latest analysis, we could potentially achieve between 7 to 10 percent, but we are still at the stage of confirming the results and we have not had a chance to provide a definitive answer right now.
     MS. LEA:  And despite this lack of information about the results for the 2005 campaigns, you are confident that a fourfold increase in 2006 can be achieved?
     MR. BUT:  The 2005 impact we assume is the equivalent of .2 percent of the base load, which is a small number.  And then for 2008 – for 2006, we are talking about .8 percent.  So that is a cumulative number.  And we believe that with all this high priority initiated by the OPA and LDCs, I firmly believe that the .8 percent that we estimate is a very conservative number and I believe a moment ago Mr. Poch agreed to that.
     MS. LEA:  Yes.  Thank you.  Let's look a little bit at that calculation, then, which you've provided us in IR 

H1-25.  In that, you provide the assumptions that was used to generate the 194 gigawatt-hour peak-load reduction for Hydro One's own customers.
     Why do you assume that half of the two-year target for peak-load reduction will be achieved in 2006?
     MR. BUT:  When I did the analysis, going back to 2004 and beginning of 2005, there was not much information in terms of concrete information available.  So what I based on was basically the US CDM experience in the early years, and from that I deduct -- I take out – I assume, basically I assume that about half would be from load control program and about half –

MS. LEA:  One moment, sir.  I think you misunderstood my question.  If you look at point 2 of the Interrogatory No. 25, I'm not asking you to differentiate between energy shifting peak‑load reduction and actual energy savings.  I'm asking you to look at number 2.  Why do you assume that half of the target, the two-year target, would be achieved in the first year?


MR. BUT:  The reason why I assume about half would be achieved by 2006 is because it would take time to ramp up the programs and it would be unreasonable to assume a higher rate by 2006, because it will take time for LDCs to actually launch the programs.


MS. LEA:  Isn't assuming that half of it will be achieved in the first year pretty ambitious, sir?


MR. BUT:  Actually 2006 is not the first year, because the government initiative, in terms of the guidance, started in late 2004, and so therefore 2006 is not the first year.


MS. LEA:  But we don't have any information about 2005 yet.


MR. BUT:  Right, because we are in the process of doing a lot of initiative to come up with ideas to launch the program for 2006 and 2007, for which we got Board approval with respect to the spending of the $39.5 million.


MS. LEA:  Okay, just a point of clarification.  I think you've already indicated this, Mr. Cowan.  In this calculation, you're assuming that some of the 194 gigawatt hours would be achieved through Hydro One programs and some through government initiatives, and at this time you do not have information as to the proportions that you expect of each of those?


MR. COWAN:  Right.  And also free riders, as well, on top of that.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  And an LRAM would not compensate you for load lost due to government initiatives?


MR. COWAN:  Not as I understand the way that it would be constructed, no.


MS. LEA:  Now, you've also assumed a certain amount will be achieved by your embedded distributors; is that right?  I think that's 157 gigawatt hours.


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And this analysis was based on their proportional share of these government initiatives or targets, if I can call them that?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And you have not studied their programs to evaluate the likelihood of success of those programs?


MR. BUT:  Not at this time when we make the analysis.


MS. LEA:  In considering your own targets or the targets for your embedded distributors, did you consider how relevant the government peak‑load reduction targets are to your customer base?  We hear repeatedly that Hydro One is different.  It has a very rural customer base and that its embeddeds are different, because they have a rural customer base or they have a different base, sort of customer base, than in Toronto.  


What effect did this have on your analysis of the applicability of the government targets to your customers?


MR. BUT:  Hydro One has been supporting the government initiative in terms of energy and peak reductions, and Hydro One will continue to do that.


MS. LEA:  Yes, sir, I'm sure you will.  I don't doubt your good intentions.  What I'm asking you is:  Did you consider that your particular customer base is different or needs to be considered differently than those of other distributors?


MR. BUT:  Our customer base is different, but that also means when we design the C&DM programs we need to do things in a particular way in order to capture the savings.  For example, in Hydro One we have a lot of water heaters.  As a matter of fact, we have half of the water heaters in the province, electric hot water heaters.  Therefore, in that particular case it makes sense for Hydro One to launch in the future in that particular area in order to get the savings.


MS. LEA:  Do I understand your answer, sir, to be that you did not consider in any particular way the make‑up of your customer base when assessing the load reduction you would input for CDM, but you do consider it in targeting your programs?


MR. BUT:  OPA has the responsibility in terms of leading the CDM efforts, and we expect that there will be a lot of discussion initiated by OPA in conjunction with other LDCs, as well, and Hydro One expects to participate in those discussions.  With respect to the spending of the $39.5 million of CDM spending already approved by the Board, we have already laid out what we plan to spend in terms of that amount.


MS. LEA:  I'll ask you again, sir.  I'm not trying to be silly about this, but when you looked at the overall government targets and understood what they might mean, did you consider the characteristics of Hydro One's customer base in considering the applicability of those targets to your customers?


MR. BUT:  The target was originally set by the government, and OPA has the responsibility of delivering it and Hydro One will support that initiative.  And being the largest distribution company in the province, we believe that we will contribute to that target and we will ‑‑ yes, our customer base is unique and that basically means, as I said earlier, we will have a specific program to deal with our customer base.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I'll move to a different area now.  Just one moment, please.


Panel, I have a few questions on a subject which is not specifically listed as a topic for you, and I'll tell you where I'm coming from in it.  I wonder if you could take out your annual report 2004.  And, I'm sorry, I've forgotten the exhibit number.


MR. COWAN:  The distribution annual report or the HOI annual report?


MS. LEA:  This one.


MR. COWAN:  That one.  That's A10.


MS. LEA:  If you could give me the exhibit number, please?


MR. COWAN:  I think it's A10, schedule 1.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  

And I'm looking at page 52 and 68.  And I'll tell you, this relates to other revenue.  If you look at page 52 in the third paragraph under “Revenue recognition and allocation,” the beginning of that paragraph is:

"Distribution revenue also includes an amount related to rate protection for rural residential and remote customers which was received from the independent electricity system operator based on a standardized customer rate that is approved by the OEB."


And, again, if I can shorten it to RRRP, it is also referred to as a revenue item on page 68 of your annual report, and yet nowhere in the evidence that we have before us is this listed as other revenue.  And I was wondering what the company considers the amount they receive from the IESO to be.  Is it other revenue?  Is it a pass-through, that is, neither a revenue nor a cost?  What is it?


MR. COWAN:  It's a pass-through.  That's why you don't see it.  The 127, we collect that from the IESO, and then it gets credited against those customers that are eligible for the RRRP on their bills.  So it's just a flow‑through.  Any differences get tracked in the variance account, as I understand it --


MS. LEA:  So you --


MR. COWAN:  -- for future disposition.  I think that is by legislation, though, as opposed to through the past regulatory asset hearing, for instance.  We didn't deal with the disposition of that account, because it's legislation to deal with how that gets disposed.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you neither gain nor lose with respect to this amount?


MR. COWAN:  That's my understanding.


MS. LEA:  And the reference to revenue in the annual report, if we want to get as particular as we do get in a rate hearing, is not actually --


MR. COWAN:  It's not revenue requirement, but it would be revenue from the point of view of a revenue line item in the financial statements.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Rogers, I'm quite happy if you answer this question now or at another time, rather than these witnesses if it's not in their bailiwick.  The Board does have an obligation, as Mr. Cowan points out, under section 79 of the OEB Act and Regulation 442/01, which has been updated, to set the amount of RRRP for customers and to set the rates that the IESO charges from the grid.  


Do I understand, with respect to this application that's before the Board now, you are not asking the Board to perform that function in this rates case?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  You are asking, with relation to RRRP, only for the disposition of the variance account that's related to RRRP, and that's for another panel?


MR. ROGERS:  That also is correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Then I just wanted to let you know that I didn't understand, and maybe I'm just not familiar enough with the area.  When you come to ‑‑ when we come to the panel that deals with that variance account, sections 5(12) and 5(13) of the regulation appear to provide for what to do with variances.  And I had not yet understood -- and I see that there's an account that you hold, but I did not know that you needed the Board to make an order because of the sections in that regulation.  


And I'm just sort of saying this now, because we'll come back and see you in another panel, if it's not this panel.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I'll check those regulations.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I have copies I can give you.  So any questions, then, with respect to the amount of the variances and how we determine the amount in that account or which customers should receive these amounts should be directed to the panel that deals with the variance account; am I correct?


MR. COWAN:  And that would be Panel 7.


MS. LEA:  Panel 7?  Thank you.  One moment, please.     Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.
     Mr. Rogers, you wish to re-examine.

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:
     MR. ROGERS:  I have one brief area.  

Mr. But, this is for you.  There was some confusion in my mind and I want to try and clarify it.  I'm glad that Mr. Shepherd is here.  Could you turn up H1-26, please, page 4 of 6.
     MR. BUT:  Yes.
     MR. ROGERS:  This came up a couple of times this morning, and I must admit I was a little confused about the comparison now.  If we look on page 4 of 6, on the 

left-hand side of the page, down at the bottom there, we see megawatt hour sales of $39,164,959; right?
     MR. BUT:  Yes.  That is the number at the end-user level, which is the customer level and for which we use to bill our customers.
     MR. ROGERS:  What I was confused about, and I may be quite incorrect about this, but I thought at one time you said that that did not include line losses, that line losses had to be added to that to close to what you buy from the supplier.
     MR. BUT:  Yes, that is true.
     MR. ROGERS:  And on another occasion, I thought you said that there was a line loss included in that figure.  Can you clarify this for me?
     MR. BUT:  I may have misspoke myself if that's the case.  When I talk about line losses included, I talk about when customers get the bills, their bills include line losses, which was a percentage added to the number here that we talk about.
     MR. ROGERS:  I see.  So the 39,164,000 number does not include line losses.
     MR. BUT:  Does not include line losses, right.  When a customer gets a bill, that includes line losses.
     MR. ROGERS:  This doesn't show the customer's bill, because the customer’s bill you add line losses in.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. ROGERS:  And the losses you add it in are based on a formula approved by the Board.
     MR. BUT:  Exactly.
     MR. ROGERS:  And to reconcile this number with the purchases from the system, you would have to add in the line losses as well as take into account other variables, such as timing variables and so on.
     MR. BUT:  Right, such as building cycle issue.  That's correct.
     MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

Thank you very much, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  That was helpful.
     Mr. Betts.

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  I just have one question now that you've cleared that one up.  I was going to ask exactly the same thing.  It's just with respect to the revenues from outside sources and we talked about the Florida situation, where Hydro One assisted that state.  Has any assistance been provided to New Orleans in their catastrophe or in the New Orleans area?
     MR. VANCE:  No.
     MR. BETTS:  Has there been any assistance provided since the Florida assistance was provided?
     MR. VANCE:  The Florida assistance in 2004?
     MR. BETTS:  Yes.
     MR. VANCE:  Yes.  We provided assistance in the fall of this year.
     MR. BETTS:  And that was -- can you give me -- what state received that assistance?
     MR. VANCE:  Florida.
     MR. BETTS:  Florida again.  Will that go into 2006?  Will –- did the assistance start and finish in 2005?
     MR. VANCE:  It did.  We were down there for approximately two and a half weeks.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That's all.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vlahos.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. But, I just want to clarify one area that clouded the record.  There was a discussion between yourself and Mr. Shepherd about housing starts and customers.  Do you recall that early in the morning?
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. VLAHOS:  And so the housing start is based on the provincial forecast.  There is also the housing starts within the Hydro One territory.
     MR. BUT:  That's right.
     MR. VLAHOS:  And I think I made a statement that housing starts may not be the same as customers, and what I was referring to is housing starts within Hydro One's area.  Now, that may not have been clear to you, but in any event, if there's a housing start in Hydro One's territory, is that the same thing as a customer?
     MR. BUT:  That will be -- housing starts in this case typically for economists relate to the residential situations.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.
     MR. BUT:  And so and if there's one new house to be built, accounted for in the housing start, and that may -- that in usual cases will present a new customer, if that customer is not already a new customer, if there's a new house.  If that is a rebuild house that an existing customer moved in, then it may not be counted as a new customer.
     MR. VLAHOS:  But there's a new residential building, you count that as a new customer.
     MR. BUT:  Exactly.
     MR. VLAHOS:  It has nothing to do with what I expected.  Sometimes there may be a difference because of timing.  You may have housing starts of X, but by the time the housing stock may finish but you don't provide service until the next month and therefore there will be no account.  But there's no such thing here that every unit of a housing start that you assume in Hydro One's territory is an added customer.
     MR. BUT:  Is an added customer.  However, there will be additional.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I think you're doing very well.  Okay.  Go ahead.
     MR. ROGERS:  I ask the witness to breathe.
     MR. BUT:  In our analysis, we have to take into consideration demolition as well, because some houses get demolished.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Let's call it net, then.  I believe there was a response to Mr. Shepherd again.  He first visited with you this monthly econometric model and then he went to the annual one.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MR. VLAHOS:  And there was something that he asked and you responded and I sort of put a question mark here.  It had to do with normalization.  Is there a difference between the monthly econometric and the annual one when it comes to normalization?  What I'm asking, I guess, from my point of view is:  In both cases the initial base data has been normalized in both monthly or annual econometric model; is that correct?
     MR. BUT:  For monthly models, we weather-correct the energy information first before we continue with the model, in terms of economic variables.  For the annual models, the heating and cooling degree day is imbedded in the right-hand side equations.  But the value of the heating and cooling degree day is set to weather normal for the forecast year.  Therefore, the forecast will be weather normal.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So why the difference?  I have to think about it.  

On the monthly model, you start with the base.  You normalize the base here.  In the yearly one --
     MR. BUT:  It is because of the modelling technique we use.  The modelling techniques -- we found that the modelling techniques we use for the model described in our evidence will best be exercised using weather-corrected information.
     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  The principle, you do it -- you have to normalize for weather in both cases, a forecast is a forecast and on a weather-normalized basis.  It's a question of do you do the normalization as the base year you simply don't worry about it when you do your forecast for the future, or do you -- you don't do it on the base year but you do it for the test year?  And I thought there were two different answers on the monthly and annual.  You tried to explain why, and I still don't understand.  But if the evidence is year, I'll go back to the pre-filed evidence.
     MR. BUT:  We use two approaches in terms of treating the data.  For the monthly model, we weather-correct first before we run the analysis; but for the annual model, the weather correction is within the equation and we do not have to do the --
     MR. VLAHOS:  My question is put it in simple terms so I can understand why you do it one way for the monthly and not this way for the annual.  Is it just not doable? 
     MR. BUT:  This is something potentially doable, but we just -- this is the modelling technique that we have been using since the old Ontario Hydro days, and that is the same tradition we have been following.
     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So there's tradition.  But I'm asking are there good reasons to differentiate from one econometric model to the other?
     MR. BUT:  For that one, I have to consult my econometrician who has a Ph.D. degree in this area in order to provide the answer.
     MR. VLAHOS:  So you don't know if there are good other reasons other than just tradition?
     MR. BUT:  But again -- but I can assure you that the method that we use is the method that we can achieve the forecast accuracy as we document in table 1 of Exhibit A14-3, and we have been using that methodology for the past 10, 15 years and we are very comfortable with that methodology, and this is just a technique that we use that is different.
     MR. VLAHOS:  I was looking for the wisdom of it, what's behind it, but that's fine.
On the forecast ‑‑ you got your forecast, and I'm not going to go through the purchase versus sales that has been addressed, but it is the forecast based on the different techniques, and then you have the lower bands and the upper bands?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, as you say, one band on either side?


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  For 2006, then, there's an upper band of 42,381 --


MR. BUT:  Right.


MS. NOWINA:  -- GWh.


MR. BUT:  Right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Now, if the Board were to find a number that is different from what you're proposing in your evidence, then how would you go about changing your revenue requirement to accommodate that higher forecast?  

Mr. Cowan, I'm looking at you to jump in here.


MR. COWAN:  It wouldn't impact.  Making an assumption wouldn't affect any facilities' forecasts or anything like that.  It wouldn't affect the revenue requirement.  What it would affect is the amount recovered through the design process, so in the G evidence, in the revenue requirement type.  It's a little different than the revenue deficiency/sufficiency hearings that you have on the gas side.  It would be reflected through the rate design part on how much is recovered.  


So if you thought the forecast was somewhat different, then that's where it would impact.


MR. VLAHOS:  But you would have to ‑‑ right now you have a certain revenue requirement number which you'll flow through into your cost allocation rate design, which is not going to be a subject of this hearing; right?


MR. COWAN:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  But if the Board finds a different forecast, that means the revenue requirement will be different, which means --


MR. COWAN:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  It would not?


MR. COWAN:  No.  You have to remember the revenue requirement model starts with OM&A.  You add a return on your rate base and things like that.  It actually doesn't even take into account the load forecasts; unlike in the gas side, where we do a gas forecast and revenue forecast, and then we have to defend that.  The revenue requirement model is different.


MR. VLAHOS:  So it's built from the bottom up, if you like.  It's inverted, is it?


MR. COWAN:  Yes.  That's one way of looking at it.  It took me a while to get my head around it, too, when I came to Hydro One.


MR. VLAHOS:  And what's the reason for that, 

Mr. Cowan, in electricity versus gas?


MR. COWAN:  I guess that's the way the handbook has been designed at this point in the evolution of the electricity distribution regulation.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So let me understand it now.  So you start with O&M, and then you keep adding your --


MR. COWAN:  If you turn --


MR. VLAHOS:  -- costs of service?


MR. COWAN:  Yes.  If you turn to E1-1, Mr. Vlahos, that kind of summarizes the various revenue requirement components, and you can see it right there, how it's built up.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, I see.  So it's a cost‑based model, then?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, it is.  Exactly.


MR. VLAHOS:  So to get you to ‑‑ return capital, that means all sorts of capital?


MR. COWAN:  That would be your rate base, and then your various capital structure components and the cost rates go to make up the --


MR. VLAHOS:  So that gives you a total requirement of X, 965.3 in this case?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So to the extent that we find that your load forecast may be ‑‑ if we plan to change your load forecast, then how would it work now?  Tell me again.


MR. COWAN:  If we start with the 965.3, when we actually go to recover the rates, the proposal - and, again, Panel 8 will be able to walk you through this in more detail - there's three components, as I mentioned in my direct.  There's the LV of 33 million, which would come off the 965, and then the other miscellaneous revenue that Mr. Vance talked about is about 40 million.  That would leave you with 892 million.


MR. VLAHOS:  You would distribute that over a larger base?


MR. COWAN:  Yes, either using a higher or lower volume, depending upon what you find with the load forecast.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  That helps.


Just lastly, on the CDM forecast, Mr. Cowan, I believe you said it was just another forecast and the company is going to take the risk on that forecast like it takes the risk on a number of other forecasts?


MR. COWAN:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  But you do recognize that this is a different kind of an item.  Like any other forecast, you have to put some effort to achieve it.  You've got to be active out there in the market to sell.  In this case, you do nothing and you gain.


MR. COWAN:  The company is committed to the spending of 39.5 million in the most prudent manner possible and learn from those expenditures, so that as we move forward we can make the right investment in those programs that will deliver the best bang for the dollar in terms of CDM reductions.


MR. VLAHOS:  So the commitment is you're going to spend it?


MR. COWAN:  We're going to spend it and we want to spend it wisely, and we want to be able to evaluate it to make sure that as we go forward, the best possible programs, in consultation with the OPA, as Mr. But has mentioned, will be put in place.


MR. VLAHOS:  And when is that day for testing the prudence of that expenditure?  Is there a process where the prudence, the wisdom of your expenditure, will be tested?


MR. COWAN:  The programs, as they are implemented and the results monitored, that is taking place today and through the end of the program, which is 2007 right now, the pilot program.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And at that time there will be some process where the Board will look at how the money was spent and ‑‑


MR. COWAN:  We have to do the reporting, the annual reporting on the money spent and the results.  So, yes, the Board will be able to review that.  I would imagine also the OPA, through consultations, will become very involved as well in the results as they move forward with their design of what they feel the program should be, because they have the ultimate mandate.


MR. VLAHOS:  But is it ‑‑ after 2007, is there a risk for the utility that the Board may say, Well, you have not spent it wisely and, therefore, you owe some money back to the customer?  Is that possible?


MR. COWAN:  I'm trying to recall the words of the CDM decision.  I thought the thing was as long as the 39.5 million was spent on CDM‑related programs, there was no need to justify that through a TRC test at all.  So I think the answer is no.  I think ‑‑ I don't believe that's there, if I understand the Board's decision.


MR. VLAHOS:  So there's no ‑‑


MR. COWAN:  I was involved in that decision, but --


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sure if it's different, the company will let us know.


MR. ROGERS:  It's my understanding that is the correct description, what we understand the way this will work, for this first ‑‑ these pilot projects and so on that have been approved by the Board.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


Just finally, Mr. Cowan, on the ‑‑ maybe it's not 

Mr. Cowan.  I'm sorry.  On the emergency services, who would that be?


MR. COWAN:  That would be Mr. Vance.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Vance, is this ‑‑ are those services cost-based?


MR. VANCE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  They are.


MR. VANCE:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, with apologies, there are two questions, purely factual questions, that have arisen out of Mr. Betts' questions about Florida this fall, and I wonder, with your permission and the indulgence of 

Mr. Rogers, if -- they're not normative questions.  They're purely factual questions, if I could put them to Mr. Vance so that the record is complete.  There's now a bit of a gap in understanding, my understanding of one of the numbers in the evidence.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  With apologies, Mr. Vance, could you turn up your pre‑filed evidence Exhibit E3,tab 1, schedule 1?  And I'm looking at table 2.  Mr. Betts asked you the question whether or not services had been provided -- emergency services had been provided in 2005, and your answer was they had been provided in Florida in the fall of this year.  I think you said for some two weeks; is that correct?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, do you know a revenue figure from those services?  Do you know or can you get it for us?


MR. VANCE:  I believe it's around 8.5 million.


MR. WARREN:  And may I assume, asking what I hope is the stupidest question of the day, it's not reflected in the 2.5 million which is there now?


MR. VANCE:  Correct.


MR. COWAN:  And neither would be costs – would that be right - the incremental costs?


MR. VANCE:  No.  It just happened in October.


MR. WARREN:  So your estimate is $8.5 million; is that correct?


MR. VANCE:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And just the final question, may I then assume from that that when you were forecasting each year the other external work in the safety category, you don't assume any emergency work on the order of – or the scale of the Florida work that you've done?  Is that correct?
     MR. VANCE:  That is correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I just have a couple of questions, but I'll follow on that one, Mr. Vance.  The numbers we see are the revenue numbers only for those other external work expenses in the table we were just referring to, and somewhere there are offsetting costs to that; is that correct?
     MR. VANCE:  For 2005?
     MS. NOWINA:  For 2004 and the 8.5 million you just mentioned for 2005, one would assume that there would be offsetting costs to that 8.5 million as well.
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct, there would be.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's correct.
     MR. COWAN:  It would be in the OM&A somewhere for 2004.
     MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.
     MR. COWAN:  And the same for 2005, costs recovered.
     MS. NOWINA:  And they would not have been forecasted for those years.
     MR. COWAN:  That's right.  We don't forecast acts of God.
     MS. NOWINA:  In either revenue or costs.
     MR. COWAN:  That's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  In answer to Mr. Vlahos' question you responded that they were a cost -- that you charge them out at cost basis so they're essentially a flow-through item; is that fair to say?  
     MR. COWAN:  Yes.  The rates are designed to recover the costs.
     MS. NOWINA:  Recover the costs.  Thank you.  That clarifies that.
     Mr. Cowan, let's go back to LRAM.  I understand in the way that we normally think of LRAM, the way that your forecasts have been put together would be difficult to do in normal LRAM.  However, if we look at your forecast for revenue -- your loss of revenue due to conservation programs, and you're forecasting that at 194 -- is that gigawatt hours?
     MR. COWAN:  Gigawatt hours.
     MS. NOWINA:  And you feel fairly confident about that forecast.  So what would the rationale not be to, at the end of that period, to go back to that forecast and have some mechanism that did a true-up against that forecast?  I understand that it can't be just Hydro One's contribution because you don't have that number.  But it could be looking at the entire number.  What would be the downside to that?
     MR. COWAN:  It's more the effort, how you identify the OPA portion, the free-rider portion.  I'm not quite sure how you can ever quantify that at this stage of the game.  Whereas once we have numbers in place, we understand what the programs are and we can forecast participation rates and apply an energy savings number of some sort, then you can go back and measure it.  If we said we were going to put 10,000 units of program X in and it had a factor energy reduction factor of Y, we can calculate that in our forecast and then when the program is done and we can report on it, we can say, Well, we did 8,000 units, and it's based on the metering data, it says this.  You can actually quantify it and do the link.  

We can't do that now.   We can’t do it for our own portion, and we certainly cannot do it for the free riders and we certainly can’t do it for OPA or federal government programs at this time.  It's – that’s the difficulty I have with putting an LRAM in at this stage.  I think it really has to be explored in detail for all parties how it would work, what the assumptions would be; and strictly to assume one, say, for Hydro One versus somebody else, I'm not sure it's appropriate to do it now.  That's the company's position.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  To go back to the question -- I guess this is for you, Mr. But, around the conservation savings and how they apply to Hydro One customers.  I believe that what you said, or what I understood, in any case, is when you looked at estimates, for example, the OPA estimates of conservation savings, that you assume that Hydro One would pick up its proportion of those, in proportion to what number of customers or volume that Hydro One normally has flowing through its system, or how do you determine that?
     MR. BUT:  I used the Hydro One energy share of the provincial.
     MS. NOWINA:  So you assume they get the same proportion of benefit s anyone else.
     MR. BUT:  I believe it would be a reasonable assumption if OPA is going to do programs, it will affect all customers in the program.
     MS. NOWINA:  In equal proportion.
     MR. BUT:  In equal proportion.
     MS. NOWINA:  Even though your customer profile is considerably different than many of the other LDCs in the province.
     MR. BUT:  If we don't do it this way, then there will be disproportionate impact on other LDC, particularly Hydro is the largest LDC in the province and we support the provincial government initiative to do it.  So I believe that Hydro One would be participating for sure, would be participating in the program.
     MS. NOWINA:  And expected to have the same results.
     MR. BUT:  Right.
     MS. NOWINA:  So you would envision that you would have special programs that would address your customer profile?
     MR. BUT:  Right.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

Based on the Board Panel, do you need to do any further re-examination, Mr. Rogers?
     MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Are there any other matters for this afternoon that anyone would like to question on?
     Well, with that, we will finish this afternoon.  We have finished early this afternoon.  We will begin tomorrow morning at 9:00 with Panel number 2, which I believe is on OM&A.
     MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, Panel, for your contribution day.  We're adjourned until 9:00.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:10 p.m.
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